Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul Faculdade de Medicina Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde: Ginecologia e Obstetrícia

Mecanismos moleculares envolvidos nas alterações cardiovasculares em modelo experimental de privação de estrogênio associado à hipertensão

Cristiana Palma Kuhl

Porto Alegre, 2023

Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul Faculdade de Medicina Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde: Ginecologia e Obstetrícia

Mecanismos moleculares envolvidos nas alterações cardiovasculares em modelo experimental de privação de estrogênio associado à hipertensão

Cristiana Palma Kuhl

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Markus Berger Oliveira Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Paula Barros Terraciano

Tese apresentada como requisito parcial para obtenção do título de Doutor no Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde: Ginecologia e Obstetrícia, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul.

Porto Alegre, 2023

Os benefícios da ciência não são para os cientistas, e sim para a humanidade! *Louis Pasteur*

AGRADECIMENTOS

Ao final dessa etapa, gostaria de agradecer diversas pessoas que foram importantes para tornar esse sonho possível.

Inicialmente gostaria de agradecer a minha orientadora, Profa. Paula Terraciano que me escolheu para encarar sua primeira orientação de doutorado. Obrigada pela confiança, dedicação, puxões de orelha e toda ajuda extra. Tu és muito mais que uma orientadora!

Ao meu segundo orientador, Prof. Markus Berger, meu agradecimento por enxergar em uma fisioterapeuta o potencial de pesquisadora, estatística, cuidadora de animais, escrita. Aprendi muito contigo.

À minha amiga/colega/parceira de trabalho Sabrina minha eterna gratidão. Muitos foram os finais de semana, feriados e turnos extras cuidando para que as "nossas meninas" comessem, não sentissem dor, fossem devidamente lavadas, aclimatadas, avaliadas e tudo mais. Esse trabalho não teria sido possível sem a tua presença, ajuda e, claro, as trufas!

Ao pessoal da Unidade de Experimentação Animal por todo o cuidado para que as pesquisas realizadas sejam conduzidas de uma forma, além de ética, leve!

Aos meus pais por me ensinarem a sempre seguir estudando e buscando a melhor forma de cuidar dos meus pacientes, mesmo que seja procurando isso em pesquisa básica.

Ao meu amor, Ivan, não tenho palavras para agradecer teu apoio nesses anos. Tuas ajudas com a Rafa, com a parte informática, com as terapias etc., foram o que me fez concluir essa etapa. Obrigada pela paciência, compreensão e carinho!

À minha filhota linda, Rafaela, obrigada por entender que a mamãe precisava ter esse tempo para estudar. Que esse momento te lembre sempre da importância de estudar constantemente e de que ser cientista é legal.

Por último, mas não menos importante, agradeço a Deus por me dar a oportunidade de estar inserida em um ambiente com tanta qualidade e estímulo à pesquisa, que é o Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre e a UFRGS, e por colocar no meu caminho pessoas tão maravilhosas.

SUMÁRIO

LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS	.5
LISTA DE FIGURAS	.7
LISTA DE TABELAS	.8
RESUMO	.9
ABSTRACT1	10
INTRODUÇÃO1	11
REVISÃO DA LITERATURA1	12
1 Estratégias para localizar e selecionar as informações1	2
2 Mapa conceitual1	3
3 Estrogênio1	3
4 Menopausa1 4.1 Menopausa x Doenças cardiovasculares (DCV)1	5 17
5 Hipertensão1	9
6 Sistema renina-angiotensina2 6.1 Sistema renina-angiotensina na menopausa x doenças cardiovasculares2	22 25
JUSTIFICATIVA2	27
HIPÓTESES2	28
OBJETIVOS2	29
Principal2	<u>29</u>
Secundários2 REFERÊNCIAS	29 30
ARTIGO EM INGLÊS	34
CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS6	51
PERSPECTIVAS6	53
ANEXOS6	54

LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS

	Angiotonsin converting onzyme					
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme					
AGI	Proteína guinase B (<i>Protein kinase B</i>)					
	Angiotensina (Angiotensin)					
	Aminepontidade A					
	Aminopeptidase A					
APN	Aminopeptidase N					
AT1R	Receptores acopiados a proteina G tipo i da superficie celular (Cell					
AT2R	Surrace type I G protein-coupled receptors) Recentores tino II da superfície celular (Cell surface type II recentors)					
B1R	B1 recentor					
B2R	B2 recentor					
CAP	Cardioacceleratory pentide					
	Catensina D (Cathensin D)					
	Catepsina D (Cathepsin D)					
	(quanosina cíclica 3', 5'-monofostato) - proteína quinase dependente					
cGMP-PKG	((Cyclic guanosine 3', 5'-monophosphate)- dependent protein kinase)					
СК	Creatine kinase					
CK-MB	MB isoform of creatine kinase					
CVD	Cardiovascular diseases					
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure					
DCV	Doenças cardiovasculares					
DPPIV	Dipeptidyl peptidase IV					
E1	Estrona					
E2	Estrogênio (<i>Estrogen</i>)					
E3	Estriol					
E4	Estetrol					
ECA	Enzima conversora da angiotensina					
eNOS	Óxido nítrico sintase endotelial					
ER	Receptor de estrogênio					
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase					
ET	Endothelin					
FSH	Hormônio folículo estimulante					
GEE	Generalized estimating equations					
GLU-AP	Glutamyl aminopeptidase					
GPCR	Downstream of G protein-coupled receptors					
GPER	Receptor transmembrana acoplado à proteína G					
GPR30	Receptor 30 acoplado à proteína G					

HE	Hematoxylin and eosin
HVE	Hipertrofia do ventrículo esquerdo
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IL	Interleucina
KLK	Kallikrein
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LDL	Lipoproteína de baixa densidade
LV	Left ventricle
MasR	Receptores acoplados à proteína Mas G (<i>Mas G protein-coupled receptors</i>)
MCP-1	Proteína quimioatraente de monócitos
MKP-1	Proteína quinase ativada por mitógeno (<i>Mitogen-activated protein kinase</i>)
MMP	Metaloproteinase de matriz (Metalloproteinase)
MTT	(3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) assay
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NO	Óxido nítrico
OVX	Oophorectomy
PA	Pressão arterial
pERK	Phospho extracellular signal-regulated kinase
PP2A	Proteína fosfatase 2 (<i>Protein phosphatase 2</i>)
PTEN	Homólogo de fosfatase e tensina (<i>Phosphatase and tensin homologue</i>)
RAS	Sistema renina-angiontensina (Renin-angiotensin system)
ROS	Espécies reativas de oxigênio
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SHAM	Gonadal-intact animals
SHP-1	Proteína tirosina fosfatase (Protein tyrosine phosphatase)
SHR	Espontaneamente hipertensos (Spontaneous hypertensive)
SNS	Sistema nervoso simpático
TNF	Fator de necrose tumoral (Transforming growth factor)
VE	Ventrículo esquerdo
VSMC	Células musculares lisas vasculares (Vascular smooth muscle cells)
WKY	Wistar Kyoto

LISTA DE FIGURAS

Figura 1.Mapa conceitual	13
Figura 2. Perfil dos hormônios sexuais na transição menopausal	16
Figura 3. Ação do estrogênio através de seus receptores nas células	
cardiovasculares	21
Figura 4. Sistema renina-angiotensina	24
Figura 5. Sistema renina-angiotensina no coração de ratas ooferetomizadas e	
hipertensas	61

LISTA DE TABELAS

Tabela 1. Resultados da busca bibliográfica nas bases de dados	1:	2
--	----	---

RESUMO

Doenças cardiovasculares aumentam significativamente em mulheres na pós menopausa. O estrogênio tem um papel importante na regulação da pressão arterial através de diversos aspectos fisiológicos. O desequilíbrio do sistema renina angiotensina é um fator relevante no desenvolvimento de patologias cardiovasculares. O objetivo desse estudo foi investigar os mecanismos moleculares e alterações cardiovasculares em um modelo experimental de privação de estrogênio endógeno associado com hipertensão. Ratas das linhagens Wistar Kyoto (WKY) e espontaneamente hipertensas (SHR) com 14 semanas de idade foram submetidas a ooforectomia bilateral. Análises de morfologia e número de cardiomiócitos foram realizadas, assim como mensuração de marcadores de lesão cardíaca. Elementos do sistema renina-angiotensina e do sistema calicreína-cininas foram observados e quantificados no coração e na aorta desses animais. Posteriormente, um estudo in vitro foi realizado para verificação do efeito dos resultados encontrados nos animais em células naïve. Com os resultados desse estudo foi verificado que a privação de estrogênio aumenta o eixo ECA/Ang II/AT1R do sistema renina-angiotensina durante a hipertensão. Essa supra regulação foi associada ao aumento de quimase. Esse cenário vasoconstritor levou a uma hipertrofia de cardiomiócitos sem lesão cardíaca. O mesmo comportamento do eixo ECA/Ang II/AT1R foi observado na aorta desses animais. Através de experimento in vitro, observou-se aumento de proliferação e viabilidade celular. Nossos dados indicam que a ooforectomia aumenta o eixo vasoconstritor do sistema renina-angiotensina durante a hipertensão, levando a um quadro patológico semelhante à hipertrofia cardíaca e vascular. O mecanismo de hipertrofia parece não envolver lesão celular direta, mas aumento da proliferação e viabilidade através de uma via dependente da ativação de quimase/AT1R e geração intracelular de ERK1/2.

Palavras-chave: estrogênio, hipertensão, sistema cardiovascular, sistema reninaangiotensina

ABSTRACT

Cardiovascular diseases increase significantly in postmenopausal women. Estrogen plays an important role in regulating blood pressure through several physiological aspects. Deregulation of renin-angiotensin system is a key factor of development of cardiovascular pathologies. The aim of this study was to investigate molecular mechanisms and cardiovascular alterations in an experimental model of endogenous estrogen deprivation associated with hypertension. Wistar Kyoto (WKY) and spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) female rats, at 14 weeks of age underwent bilateral oophorectomy. Analyzes of morphology and number of cardiomyocytes were performed, as well as measurement of cardiac injury markers. Morphology and number of cardiomyocytes were evaluated, as well as cardiac lesion markers. Reninangiotensin and kinin-kallikrein system elements were analyzed in the heart and aorta of these animals. After, an in vitro study was carried out to verify the effect of the results found in animals on naïve cells. The results of this study showed estrogen deprivation increases the ACE/Ang II/AT1R axis of the renin-angiotensin system during hypertension. This upregulation was associated with increased chymase. This vasoconstrictor scenario led to hypertrophy of cardiomyocytes without cardiac damage. The same behavior of the ACE/Ang II/AT1R axis was observed in the aorta of these animals. Through an *in vitro* experiment, an increase in experience and cell viability was observed. Our data indicate that oophorectomy increases the vasoconstrictor axis of the renin-angiotensin system during hypertension, leading to a pathological condition similar to cardiac and vascular hypertrophy. The mechanism of hypertrophy seems not to involve direct cell injury, but increased proliferation and viability through a pathway dependent on chymase/AT1R activation and intracellular generation of ERK1/2.

Keywords: estrogen, hypertension, cardiovascular system, renin-angiotensin system.

INTRODUÇÃO

As doenças cardiovasculares são as principais causas de morte em países desenvolvidos (1,2). Após a menopausa, há um aumento importante na incidência de diversas patologias, dentre elas a hipertensão (1–7). Esta, isoladamente, é considerada um fator de risco primário para eventos cardiovasculares e danos em órgãos-alvo (8).

A privação de estrogênio tem papel importante no desenvolvimento das doenças cardiovasculares após a menopausa. O estrogênio promove vasodilatação, inibe o sistema renina-angiotensina, regula citocinas e marcadores inflamatórios específicos, dentre outros. Por esses efeitos, é considerado ser um fator protetor contra diversas condições. Após a menopausa, essa proteção é perdida podendo levar ao desenvolvimento de patologias (2,7,9–11).

Este trabalho foi realizado com o objetivo de investigar se a privação de estrogênio endógeno altera mecanismos moleculares, levando a alterações cardiovasculares em ratas hipertensas ooforectomizadas.

REVISÃO DA LITERATURA

1 Estratégias para localizar e selecionar as informações

Para a elaboração da revisão de literatura, foi realizada uma busca eletrônica por artigos em bases de dados no período entre dezembro de 2021 e janeiro de 2023. As bases de dados utilizadas foram Pubmed, Scielo e Embase. Os seguintes descritores foram cruzados entre si: *estrogen; hypertension; renin-angiotensin system; cardiovascular system*. Após leitura prévia dos resumos, excluiu-se os que não condiziam com o tema desse trabalho e artigos repetidos. Com o intuito de ampliar a pesquisa, as referências bibliográficas de artigos de interesse foram analisadas. Foi, também, incluído um (1) livro físico.

O resultado da busca encontra-se descrito na tabela abaixo.

Descritores	PubMed	Embase	Scielo
Estrogen	287.824 artigos	42.290 artigos	123 artigos
Hypertension	613.804 artigos	1.162.773 artigos	4217 artigos
Renin-angiotensin system	37.805 artigos	29.620 artigos	23 artigos
Cardiovascular system	1.444.024 artigos	2.322.014 artigos	836 artigos
Estrogen and hypertension and renin-angiotensin system and cardiovascular system	21 artigos	51 artigos	0 artigos

Tabela 1. Resultados da busca bibliográfica nas bases de dados.

2 Mapa conceitual



Figura 1. Mapa conceitual

3 Estrogênio

O estrogênio é um hormônio esteroide lipossolúvel produzido principalmente pelo colesterol nos ovários, corpo lúteo e placenta em mulheres no menacme (3–5,9). É considerado o principal hormônio feminino e tem papel essencial no desenvolvimento e fisiologia de muitos órgãos e tecidos como mamas, útero, ossos e sistema cardiovascular (4). Quatro formas são observadas: (a) estradiol (E2) também conhecido como 17 β -estradiol ou estrogênio é o mais abundante e potente entre as formas circulantes; (b) estrona (E1) e (c) estriol (E3) são outras duas formas naturais que são vistas em menor quantidade; (d) estetrol (E4) que é somente produzido durante a gravidez (3,5). Outros tecidos (como adiposo, ósseo e cerebral, endotélio vascular e musculatura lisa da aorta) produzem E2, porém em quantidade bem menor. O E2 gonadal atua, principalmente, como um fator endócrino que afeta os tecidos distais, enquanto o E2 produzido extra gonadal atua localmente como um fator parácrino ou autócrino no tecido onde é sintetizado. A produção extra gonadal é

importante pois é a única fonte de produção endógena de E2 em mulheres na pósmenopausa (3,12).

Em mulheres, os níveis de estrogênio flutuam durante o ciclo menstrual e sua concentração muda em relação à idade (12). Na mulher não grávida, o E2 é produzido em uma taxa de 100-300µg/dia, mas circula e atua dentro das células em concentrações de pg/mL (9). Após a sua síntese, o E2 é secretado na corrente sanguínea onde é encontrado em duas formas, ligado ou livre. A maior parte do hormônio está ligada a carreadores de proteínas, albumina e globulina de ligação a hormônios esteroides sexuais. O E2 que não está ligado a uma proteína flutua livremente na corrente sanguínea e entra prontamente nas células por difusão rápida. No entanto, para que o E2 produza seu efeito ele deve ser captado por um receptor dentro da célula. O trabalho do receptor é auxiliar na transmissão da mensagem do hormônio para a transcrição do gene nuclear. O resultado é a produção de RNA mensageiro levando a síntese proteica e uma resposta celular característica do hormônio (9).

Os efeitos induzidos pelo E2 são mediados por três tipos de receptores (ERs): ER α , ER β e receptor transmembrana acoplado à proteína G (GPER) (3–5,9,12). O $ER\alpha$ é amplamente distribuído e tem alta expressão de mRNA no útero, testículos, ovários, próstata, músculo esquelético, rins, pele, etc. O ERβ possui maior expressão de mRNA nos ovários, cólon, tecido cerebral, rins e sistema reprodutor masculino. Já o GPER está distribuído em vários órgãos e tecidos como mamas, ovários, útero, sistema cardiovascular, pulmão e tecido ósseo, e está amplamente envolvido na ocorrência e desenvolvimento de doenças relacionadas ao estrogênio, como tumores malignos, reações inflamatórias, doenças cardiovasculares (DCV) e obesidade. O receptor 30 acoplado à proteína G (GPR30) é expresso em muitas regiões do cérebro (como hipotálamo, hipocampo e córtex), medula adrenal, pelve renal e ovários (4). A ligação do E2 aos seus receptores pode conferir ação genômica e não genômica rápida (3,9,10). O efeito genômico funciona lentamente pois demora várias horas à vários dias para ocorrer, enquanto o efeito não genômico normalmente leva apenas alguns segundos a alguns minutos (4). ER α e ER β atuam como fatores de transcrição responsáveis por muitos efeitos genômicos, modulando a expressão gênica por ligação direta ao DNA em elementos específicos de resposta ao estrogênio. Já o

GPER está envolvido principalmente na mediação de respostas intracelulares rápidas induzidas pelo E2 (9,10,12). Observa-se que há três vias que medeiam a atividade do E2: (a) atividade nuclear dependente de ligante onde tem-se o mecanismo clássico envolvendo os receptores de E2 com ligação aos elementos de resposta ao E2 do DNA; (b) atividade nuclear independente de ligante onde há ativação da via do receptor de E2 por meio de segundos mensageiros, envolvendo fosforilação de ERs e proteínas correguladoras e (c) atividade do receptor extra núcleo da membrana celular do ligante onde se encontra respostas rápidas mediadas por ERs nas membranas celulares (9).

Uma ação importante do estrogênio é a modificação de suas próprias atividades e de outros hormônios esteroides, afetando as concentrações de receptores. O E2 aumenta a responsividade do tecido alvo a si mesmo e aos progestágenos e andrógenos, aumentando a concentração de seu próprio receptor e dos receptores intracelulares desses outros hormônios (9).

Além do papel importante no desenvolvimento sexual e na reprodução em mulheres, o E2 está envolvido em diversos processos fisiológicos em diferentes tecidos como o crescimento e maturação dos sistemas endócrino, cardiovascular, esquelético e metabólico (4,12). Os hormônios esteroides tem função marcante na regulação da resposta imune a infecções ou danos teciduais e modulam todos os níveis do sistema imune inato (neutrófilos, macrófagos/ monócitos, células natural killers, células dendríticas) e do sistema adaptativo (células T e B). Foi demonstrado que o E2 regula o número e função de neutrófilos, a produção de quimiocinas, como proteína quimioatraente de monócitos (MCP)-1 e citocinas, incluindo fator de necrose tumoral (TNF)- α , interleucina (IL)-6 e IL-1 β . Estudos mostram que, no sistema cardiovascular, o E2 tem um efeito protetor, principalmente relacionado com a interação de múltiplos tipos celulares incluindo células imunes, como linfócitos B e macrófagos, e células da parede vascular, incluindo células da musculatura lisa e endoteliais (12).

4 Menopausa

A transição menopausal é um período finito de mudanças fisiológicas da vida da mulher que se aproxima da senescência reprodutiva (9,11). Este período se

caracteriza por uma mudança no estado hormonal predominantemente estrogênico para um estado androgênico, devido a um aumento nos níveis de testosterona biodisponível. Observa-se o declínio nos níveis de inibina B, resultando em um declínio na sua ação de feedback negativo na liberação do hormônio folículo estimulante (FSH) pela hipófise. O aumento dos níveis de FSH promove oscilações na secreção de estradiol (13). Na figura 1, observa-se o comportamento hormonal durante transição menopausal proposto por Taylor *et al* (9).



Figura 2. Perfil dos hormônios sexuais na transição menopausal (9).

A menopausa natural ocorre, em média, em mulheres com idade de 49 anos (13,14). Nesta fase observa-se a cessação da função endócrina ovariana com declínio drástico na secreção de estrogênio e perda definitiva do ciclo endometrial (9,11). A mulher atinge a menopausa quando ela permanece amenorreica por um intervalo consecutivo de 12 meses e demonstra evidência bioquímica de hipergonadotrofismo (níveis elevados de hormônio folículo-estimulante e hormônio luteinizante) e hipogonadismo (baixos níveis de estradiol). O nível de E2 circulante nessa fase é de aproximadamente 10-20pg/mL (9).

Com o declínio da função ovariana e a redução do estrogênio, alterações físicas e psicológicas ocorrem nas mulheres e levam a uma série de sintomas de disfunção autonômica (sudorese, irritabilidade, insônia, ondas de calor, etc) (4,9,13,14). Diversas condições e doenças caracterizadas por um forte componente inflamatório podem se manifestar (12). Doenças vasculares cardíacas e cerebrais, osteoporose, baixa imunidade e envelhecimento da pele, relacionadas à menopausa, tornaram-se os principais fatores de risco que afetam a qualidade de vida e a expectativa de vida das mulheres (4,9,13,15). Uma mudança da distribuição de gordura corporal para a região central e as consequentes alterações metabólicas podem ocorrer pelo aumento da relação androgênio : estrogênio, que também é estimulada pelo aumento da resistência à insulina (7,13). O peso dos sintomas da menopausa pode afetar consideravelmente a vida pessoal, social e de trabalho das mulheres (14).

4.1 Menopausa x Doenças cardiovasculares (DCV)

As DCV são as principais causas de morte entre homens e mulheres nos países desenvolvidos (1,2). Mulheres na pré-menopausa têm menor incidência de hipertensão, aterosclerose, disfunção miocárdica, hipertrofia ventricular, insuficiência cardíaca e isquemia miocárdica que os homens da mesma idade (1–3,11–14). Estudos mostram que, em média, as mulheres desenvolvem DCV 10 anos mais tarde que os homens. Essa vantagem desaparece gradualmente após a menopausa (2,4–7,9). Com o aumento da idade, as DCV tornam-se a principal causa de morte entre as mulheres (3,9).

Durante o envelhecimento se observa, no sistema cardiovascular, aumento da rigidez e da fibrose, perda da reserva contrátil, aumento das espécies reativas de oxigênio e disfunção endotelial, levando a disfunção cardiovascular. Associado a isso, na menopausa, há perda do efeito antioxidante do estrogênio, que se dá por meio da regulação indireta da expressão do gene antioxidante e do aumento da atividade do óxido nítrico sintase endotelial (eNOS) enquanto diminui a produção de superóxido. (4,16). Com isso, se observa, nas mulheres, envelhecimento dos vasos sanguíneos, diminuição da capacidade diastólica, sensibilidade e resistência à insulina e aumento da pressão arterial (PA) (4,7,15).

O E2 promove vasodilatação através do aumento das concentrações plasmáticas do óxido nítrico do fator relaxante derivado do endotélio, inibe o sistema renina-angiotensina, reduzindo a transcrição da enzima conversora de angiotensina e regula marcadores inflamatórios específicos e citocinas. Por esses motivos, exerce efeitos protetivos no sistema cardiovascular de ambos os sexos, como redução da PA e redução do desenvolvimento da inflamação vascular e aterosclerose. No entanto essa proteção específica do sexo diminui durante a menopausa e envelhecimento (2,7,9–11).

Diversas alterações metabólicas e cardiovasculares são observadas em mulheres na pós-menopausa relacionadas à perda do E2. A interação entre elas leva às DCV. É importante salientar que as mesmas alterações são observadas em mulheres com menos de 45 anos que experienciaram menopausa prematura ou de início precoce (13,15,17). Ocorre um estímulo ao acúmulo de gordura nos pré-adipócitos da gordura visceral pois o E2 regulam negativamente a ingestão alimentar e positivamente o gasto energético inibindo o depósito específico do tecido adiposo processos fisiopatológicos que levam à morbidade (8,13,15). Há produção de citocinas pró inflamatórias e adipocinas, ativando vias de estresse celular, aumentando o risco de aterosclerose e de eventos adversos cardiovasculares (8,13). Volumes consideravelmente maiores de gordura cardíaca são observados em mulheres na pós menopausa, independentemente de idade, raça, obesidade ou outras covariáveis (13).

Há alterações prejudiciais no perfil lipídico-lipoprotéico circulante; a oxidação da lipoproteína de baixa densidade (LDL), produzindo uma LDL modificada que é quimiotática para os monócitos circulantes, inibe a motilidade dos macrófagos (aprisionando assim os macrófagos na túnica íntima) e que causa lesão e morte celular no endotélio. Ocorre remodelação das artérias coronárias através de resposta a placas ateroscleróticas em desenvolvimento com aumento de diâmetro total, na tentativa de manter fluxo (9). A redução de E2 ativa o sistema renina-angiotensina, assim como a supra regulação da endotelina (potente vasoconstritor), liberação reduzida de oxido nítrico cardioprotetor e prostaciclinas, levando a vasoconstrição e eventos trombogênicos. Observa-se, também, efeito negativo no crescimento de células endoteliais e redução no efeito inibitório dos hormônios sexuais femininos no

crescimento, proliferação e migração de células da musculatura vascular lisa. Essas células tornam-se dominantes e fontes da matriz do tecido conjuntivo na lesão aterosclerótica que, influenciadas também por fatores de crescimento e citocinas, levam a placas fibrosas (9,13).

Ao analisarmos as ações do E2 especificamente nas células cardiovasculares observamos que há inibição da hipertrofia celular e apoptose em cardiomiócitos (1,4,7). O E2 atua regulando a expressão de genes cardíacos, como conexina 43, cadeia pesada de β-miosina e canais iônicos. O excesso de calcineurina, ativação de (guanosina cíclica 3', 5'-monofosfato) - proteína quinase dependente (cGMP-PKG), ativação de proteína quinase B (Akt) e miRNAs também são regulados nos cardiomiócitos (1,7,17). proliferação e ativação da sinalização eNOS no endotélio vascular e efeito antiproliferativo nas células musculares lisas vasculares (VSCM) (1,4,7). Em fibroblastos cardíacos o E2 aumenta a sua proliferação através de mecanismos dependentes de proteína quinase ativados por mitógenos. Essas células são a fonte primária de proteínas da matriz extracelular do miocárdio, metaloproteinases de matriz (MMPs) e fatores de crescimento e citocinas. Ambos têm contribuição importante para a remodelação cardíaca em níveis fisiológicos e patológicos. Nas VSCM o estrogênio exerce efeitos antiproliferativos e e ativação da sinalização eNOS no endotélio vascular. A proliferação celular é consideravelmente regulada pela transdução de sinal mediada por quinase. O estrogênio controla a expressão e a atividade de várias fosfatases em VSMC, incluindo proteína quinase ativada por mitógeno (MKP-1), proteína tirosina fosfatase (SHP-1), homólogo de fosfatase e tensina (PTEN) e proteína fosfatase 2 (PP2A), equilibrando as quinases (1,4,7,17).

5 Hipertensão

A hipertensão é um fator de risco primário para eventos cardiovasculares, danos em órgãos-alvo e morte prematura e incapacidade em todo o mundo (8). Mesmo sendo um fator de risco modificável, cerca de metade dos eventos de DCV são atribuídos a ela (2). Os níveis de PA são menores, em média, em mulheres pré menopausa que nos seus homólogos masculinos, porém, essa vantagem é perdida após a menopausa, e os níveis de PA começam a aumentar nas mulheres, chegando a níveis similares aos dos homens no mesmo grupo etário (2,13). É mais difícil de atingir o controle da PA em mulheres idosas e há um maior risco de desenvolver resistência ao tratamento anti-hipertensivo que homens, além de terem mais risco de morrer por doenças cardiovasculares relacionadas à hipertensão (8,18).

Os esteroides sexuais são os peças-chave por trás das diferenças relacionadas ao gênero na hipertensão. A influência do E2 leva a alterações nos mecanismos regulatórios da PA, no sistema nervoso simpático (SNS), sistema renina-angiotensina (RAS), massa corporal, estresse oxidativo, função endotelial, entre outros. Todos associados ao estado inflamatório importante e influenciados por fatores genéticos, levam a danos cardíacos, vasculares e renais na hipertensão (2,8).

Receptores de estrogênio foram identificados em centros cerebrais envolvidos na regulação da função cardiovascular. É descrito que mulheres na pós menopausa apresentam menor sensibilidade ao barorreflexo sendo sugerido que o E2 exerce efeitos diretos nos centros autonômicos nervosos centrais, levando a efeitos simpatoinibitórios, que podem ser importantes para conferir proteção cardiovascular (8).

O estrogênio é conhecido por ter uma poderosa atividade vasodilatadora aguda e crônica, levando à redução da PA. A maioria dos estudos em animais sugere que o E2 se engaja em vários mecanismos que protegem contra a hipertensão, como a estimulação da via vasodilatadora mediada pelo óxido nítrico (NO) modulando enzimas pró e antioxidantes, deste modo atenuando a produção de espécies reativas de oxigênio (ROS). A ativação do ERα demonstrou reduzir a disfunção endotelial, principalmente através da redução dos níveis de expressão da síntese de eNOS aórtico na hipertensão induzida por angiotensina II (Ang II). A ativação do ERβ diminui a PA, a vasoconstrição, a resistência vascular e atenua a hipertrofia cardíaca. Finalmente, o GPR30 reduz a PA através da rápida vasodilatação e protege o coração da lesão hipertensiva, estimula a vasodilatação mediada por NO e diminui a proliferação e migração de VSMC (2,3,8,16). As ações no E2 nas diversas células cardiovasculares estão demonstradas na figura 2 (1).



Figura 3. Ações do estrogênio através de seus receptores nas células cardiovasculares (1).

Pacientes com hipertensão e falta de controle da PA têm maior probabilidade de desenvolver danos em órgãos alvo, como hipertrofia cardíaca, alterações vasculares – incluindo rigidez arterial – e danos renais (8,18). O coração responde a estímulos patológicos, como hipertensão, estenose aórtica ou lesão cardíaca, com hipertrofia do músculo cardíaco, acompanhada de diversas alterações teciduais e celulares, incluindo aumento do tamanho dos cardiomiócitos e alterações na matriz extracelular. Embora inicialmente se trate de uma resposta adaptativa е compensatória, com a persistência do fator de estresse ocorre um remodelamento mal adaptativo levando à hipertrofia patológica (8). Consequentemente, a hipertrofia do ventrículo esquerdo (HVE) induzida por hipertensão é um importante fator de risco para insuficiência cardíaca e morte súbita (8,18,19). Ao relacionarmos esses estímulos patológicos ao E2 observamos que mulheres hipertensas apresentam maior índice de massa ventricular esquerda e espessamento relativo da parede além de uma maior sensibilidade cardíaca à sobrecarga de pressão. Esse aumento na massa do ventrículo esquerdo (VE) em resposta à sobrecarga crônica de pressão também está associado a maior fração de ejeção do VE e encurtamento fracionado da parede média. A ausência do descenso pressórico noturno, observada em mulheres, pode ter grande influência nesse aumento índice de massa ventricular esquerda. A HVE é, portanto, um dos sinais mais importantes de dano inicial em órgãos alvo em pacientes com hipertensão e sua prevalência aumenta significativamente em mulheres na pósmenopausa (18–20). Ainda, apesar do tratamento, mulheres apresentam menor regressão da HVE hipertensiva e a hipertrofia residual é mais comum apesar do tratamento anti-hipertensivo eficaz e controle de PA (8,18).

6 Sistema renina-angiotensina

O sistema renina angiotensina (RAS) é um complexo sistema misto enzimáticohormonal. É considerado um dos sistemas mais importantes na regulação fisiológica da pressão arterial através de mecanismos renais e não renais (21–24).

O RAS clássico pode ser definido como o eixo ECA/Ang II/AT1R que promove vasoconstrição, ingestão de água, retenção de sódio e outros mecanismos para manter a pressão arterial, assim como aumento do estresse oxidativo, fibrose, crescimento celular e inflamação em condições patológicas (21). Resumidamente, a renina (enzima produzida pela célula justaglomerular e liberada do rim para a corrente sanguínea) cliva o angiotensinogênio (AGT) (proteína globular produzida e secretada pelo fígado) para produzir Angiotensina I (Ang I) (decapeptídeo). A Ang I é hidrolisada pela enzima conversora da angiotensina (ECA) para formar Ang II (dipeptidil carboxipeptidase), o principal efetor da via canônica. A Ang II é a principal substância vasoativa do sistema e interage com receptores específicos em múltiplos órgãos-alvo. Em receptores acoplados à proteína G tipo I da superfície celular (AT1R) atuando na elevação a pressão arterial via múltiplos mecanismos incluindo vasoconstrição, reabsorção de sódio, ativação simpática e imune, comprometimento da sensibilidade do reflexo barorreceptor arterial e aumento da aldosterona, estresse oxidativo, fibrose e inflamação (21–26).

Já o RAS não clássico é composto, primariamente, da via Ang II/Ang III/AT2R e do eixo ECA2/Ang (1-7)/AT7R (21). Para neutralizar as ações do AT1R, a Ang II se liga aos receptores tipo II da superfície celular (AT2R) para aumentar a sensibilidade do barorreflexo arterial. (22,23,27) Somado a isso, a Ang (1-7) resulta da degradação de Ang I por endopeptidases ou degradação de Ang II por carboxipeptidases como ECA2. Angiotensina I também pode ser convertida em Ang-(1–9) por ECA2, que é posteriormente clivada por ECA ou neprilisina para formar Ang-(1–7); no entanto, esta via de formação tem menor eficiência catalítica. Ang-(1-7) provoca efeitos fisiológicos ligando-se aos receptores acoplados à proteína Mas G (MasR), que são encontrados em tecidos fundamentais para o controle cardiovascular, incluindo coração, vasculatura, rins e cérebro. O RAS não clássico, geralmente se opõe as ações do eixo ECA/Ang II/AT1R estimulado através do aumento do oxido nítrico e prostaglandinas e mediam vasodilatação, natriurese, diurese e redução do stress oxidativo (21,22,24,25,27,28). A angiotensina (1-7) também tem propriedades anti-hipertensivas, simpatoinibitórias, anti-hipertróficas, antifibróticas, antiarritmogênicas e antitrombóticas em modelos animais de DCV (27)

Recentemente, uma via não canônica que leva à formação de Ang II, por meio da conversão de Ang I ou Ang-(1-12) pela quimase, foi considerada a principal contribuinte em humanos à sequela tecidual de DCV induzida por Ang II (28). A conversão de Ang-(1-12) em Ang II pela ECA na circulação é compatível com o aumento agudo da pressão arterial, bem como o bloqueio da resposta por um inibidor da ECA ou um antagonista do AT1R. Portanto, Ang-(1-12) provavelmente não é biologicamente ativo, mas pode servir como um precursor intermediário para Ang II ou Ang-(1-7) por meio de um mecanismo independente de renina (21). Um esquema do RAS está demonstrado na figura 3.



Figura 4. Sistema renina-angiotensina. AGT: angiotensinogênio; REN: renina; CATG: catepsina G; CATD: catepsina D; KLK: calicreína, ANG: angiotensina; ACE: enzima conversora da angiotensina, CHY: quimase; APA: aminopeptidase A; GLUAP: glutamyl aminopeptidase; DPP: dipeptidyl peptidase IV; APN: aminopeptidase N; APB: aminopeptidase B; AT1R: receptores acoplados à proteína G tipo I da superfície celular; AT2R: receptores tipo II da superfície celular; MasR: receptores acoplados à proteína Mas G.

O RAS é visto como, além de um sistema circulante, um sistema tecidual cujos componentes proteicos e peptídicos são expressos em cada órgão essencial, desempenhando funções específicas do tecido e agindo independentemente do RAS plasmático. Suas ações implicam em diversos eventos fisiológicos que influenciam funções renais, neuronal, cardíaca, pancreática, vascular, adrenal, pituitária, cognitiva, de envelhecimento, inflamatórias e reprodutivas (21,22). Os mecanismos contrarreguladores intrínsecos do RAS tecidual local são posteriormente modulados por um conjunto diverso de fatores autócrinos e parácrinos, incluindo hormônios como o estrogênio (28).

Evidências mostram que o RAS circulante possa ser responsável por mediar efeitos agudos enquanto o RAS tecidual esteja envolvido em situações mais crônicas levando a alterações estruturais secundárias (22). O desequilíbrio do RAS é considerado o fator mais importante no desenvolvimento de patologias cardiovasculares, contribuindo para a patogênese da hipertensão, hipertrofia cardíaca, insuficiência cardíaca crônica, doença coronariana e aterosclerose (21–23,25,27,29).

6.1 Sistema renina-angiotensina na menopausa x doenças cardiovasculares

Diversas evidências mostram que a perda de estrogênio endógeno leva a uma ativação crônica do RAS (tanto no sistema circulante quanto no tecidual), aumentando o estresse oxidativo e reduzindo a biodisponibilidade de NO em tecidos sensíveis ao estrogênio, levando a disfunção endotelial, inflamação e disfunção imune. Acredita-se que essa superativação promova o início e a progressão da hipertensão (6,29–31). Em linhas gerais os homens têm a via pressora clássica (ECA/Ang II/AT1R) potencializada, enquanto as mulheres na pré menopausa têm principalmente a via depressora (ECA2/Ang (1-7)/MasR) ativada. Após a menopausa, essa vantagem feminina diminui, fazendo com que as mulheres apresentem um RAS similar ao masculino (8,27).

Em mulheres na pós-menopausa e em modelos animais ooforectomizados, após a perda de estrogênio, se observa redução nos níveis de AGT, aumento da atividade da ECA plasmática e tecidual, aumento da atividade da Ang II e aumento da expressão e sinalização tecidual de AT1R (6,8,16,22,23,25,27,29,31). Os altos níveis de Ang II, tanto circulantes quanto os teciduais, estão correlacionados com a lesão tecidual (23). No coração, essa exposição crônica à Ang II promove hipertrofia cardíaca por meio da ativação de fatores de crescimento e aumento do estresse oxidativo mitocondrial. Além disso, a ativação de AT1R mediada por Ang II induz a remodelação estrutural da parede ventricular, incluindo proliferação de fibroblastos cardíacos, deposição de proteínas da matriz extracelular, como colágeno, e crescimento hipertrófico de cardiomiócitos (23,27). Em contrapartida, há uma diminuição dos níveis circulantes de Ang-(1-7), redução da expressão de AT2R e da ECA2, ocasionando uma resposta reduzida aos efeitos vasodilatadores do eixo ECA2/Ang (1-7)/MasR (8,23,25,27,32).

JUSTIFICATIVA

A queda nos níveis circulantes de estrogênio está bem relacionada ao aumento da prevalência de hipertensão e outras patologias cardiovasculares em mulheres na pós-menopausa. Somado a isso, mulheres apresentam maior dificuldade de controlar a hipertensão nesse período da vida, mesmo com uma variedade terapêutica estando disponível. Mesmo que haja tratamento anti-hipertensivo eficaz e adequado controle de PA, na presença de danos em órgãos- alvo, as mulheres apresentam uma menor efetividade no tratamento. Importante lembrar que a população de interesse engloba mulheres com menos de 45 anos que experienciam menopausa prematura ou de início precoce, já que essa população apresenta as mesmas características cardiovasculares causadas pela deficiência de estrogênio.

Este trabalho se torna relevante por agregar conhecimento acerca dos mecanismos cardiovasculares envolvidos na menopausa associada a hipertensão, tendo um foco principal no sistema renina-angiotensina. A melhor compreensão desses mecanismos torna possível identificar novos potenciais alvos terapêuticos que auxiliem o controle da PA e de suas consequências no sistema cardiovascular.

HIPÓTESES

Hipótese alternativa

A privação de estrogênio endógeno altera a mecanismos moleculares, levando a alterações cardiovasculares em ratas hipertensas ooforectomizadas.

Hipótese nula

A privação de estrogênio endógeno não altera a mecanismos moleculares, não ocorrendo alterações cardiovasculares em ratas hipertensas ooforectomizadas.

OBJETIVOS

Principal

Investigar os mecanismos moleculares e alterações cardiovasculares em um modelo experimental de privação de estrogênio endógeno associada à hipertensão

Secundários

- Estabelecer um modelo experimental de privação de estrogênio endógeno, através do procedimento de ooforectomia, e hipertensão em ratas espontaneamente hipertensas da linhagem SHR;
- Investigar a morfologia dos cardiomiócitos de ratas ooforectomizadas e hipertensas;
- Avaliar a presença de lesão cardíaca em ratas ooforectomizadas e hipertensas;
- Investigar mecanismos moleculares relacionados ao sistema reninaangiotensina no coração e aorta abdominal de ratas hipertensas e ooforectomizadas;
- Investigar mecanismos moleculares relacionados ao sistema calicreínacininas no coração e aorta abdominal de ratas hipertensas e ooforectomizadas;
- Avaliar efeito do plasma de ratas hipertensas ooforectomizadas em células vasculares.

REFERÊNCIAS

1. Ueda K, Adachi Y, Liu P, Fukuma N, Takimoto E. Regulatory Actions of Estrogen Receptor Signaling in the Cardiovascular System. Front Endocrinol. 10 de janeiro de 2020;10:909.

2. Aryan L, Younessi D, Zargari M, Banerjee S, Agopian J, Rahman S, et al. The Role of Estrogen Receptors in Cardiovascular Disease. IJMS. 17 de junho de 2020;21(12):4314.

3. lorga A, Cunningham CM, Moazeni S, Ruffenach G, Umar S, Eghbali M. The protective role of estrogen and estrogen receptors in cardiovascular disease and the controversial use of estrogen therapy. Biol Sex Differ. dezembro de 2017;8(1):33.

4. Xiang D, Liu Y, Zhou S, Zhou E, Wang Y. Protective Effects of Estrogen on Cardiovascular Disease Mediated by Oxidative Stress. D'Adamo S, organizador. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity. 28 de junho de 2021;2021:1–15.

5. Jiao L, Machuki JO, Wu Q, Shi M, Fu L, Adekunle AO, et al. Estrogen and calcium handling proteins: new discoveries and mechanisms in cardiovascular diseases. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 1° de abril de 2020;318(4):H820–9.

6. Boese AC, Kim SC, Yin KJ, Lee JP, Hamblin MH. Sex differences in vascular physiology and pathophysiology: estrogen and androgen signaling in health and disease. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 1° de setembro de 2017;313(3):H524–45.

7. Zhao D, Guallar E, Ouyang P, Subramanya V, Vaidya D, Ndumele CE, et al. Endogenous Sex Hormones and Incident Cardiovascular Disease in Post-Menopausal Women. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. junho de 2018;71(22):2555– 66.

8. Sabbatini AR, Kararigas G. Estrogen-related mechanisms in sex differences of hypertension and target organ damage. Biol Sex Differ. dezembro de 2020;11(1):31.

9. Taylor HS, Pal L, Seli E. Speroff's CLINICAL GYNECOLOGIC ENDOCRINOLOGY AND INFERTILITY. Ninth edition. Wolters Kluwer; 2020.

10. Gurrala R, Kilanowski-Doroh IM, Hutson DD, Ogola BO, Zimmerman MA, Katakam PVG, et al. Alterations in the estrogen receptor profile of cardiovascular

tissues during aging. GeroScience. fevereiro de 2021;43(1):433–42.

11. Cervellati C, Bergamini CM. Oxidative damage and the pathogenesis of menopause related disturbances and diseases. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine. 1 Janeiro de 2016; 54(5); 739-753.

12. Trenti A, Tedesco S, Boscaro C, Trevisi L, Bolego C, Cignarella A. Estrogen, Angiogenesis, Immunity and Cell Metabolism: Solving the Puzzle. IJMS. 15 de março de 2018;19(3):859.

13. Monteleone P, Mascagni G, Giannini A, Genazzani AR, Simoncini T. Symptoms of menopause - Global prevalence, physiology and implications. Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2018;14(4):199–215.

14. Zhang GQ, Chen JL, Luo Y, Mathur MB, Anagnostis P, Nurmatov U, et al. Menopausal hormone therapy and women's health: An umbrella review. PLoS Medicine. 2021;18(8):1–27.

15. Patel S, Homaei A, Raju AB, Meher BR. Estrogen: The necessary evil for human health, and ways to tame it. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy. junho de 2018;102:403–11.

16. Knowlton AA, Lee AR. Estrogen and the cardiovascular system. Pharmacology& Therapeutics. julho de 2012;135(1):54–70.

17. Morselli E, Santos RS, Criollo A, Nelson MD, Palmer BF, Clegg DJ. The effects of oestrogens and their receptors on cardiometabolic health. Nat Rev Endocrinol. junho de 2017;13(6):352–64.

18. Muiesan ML, Paini A, Aggiusti C, Bertacchini F, Rosei CA, Salvetti M. Hypertension and Organ Damage in Women. High Blood Pressure and Cardiovascular Prevention. 2018;25(3):245–52.

19. Jianshu C, Qiongying W, Ying P, Ningyin L, junchen H, Jing Y. Association of free androgen index and sex hormone–binding globulin and left ventricular hypertrophy in postmenopausal hypertensive women. Journal of Clinical Hypertension. 2021;23(7):1413–9.

20. Luczak ED, Leinwand LA. Sex-Based Cardiac Physiology. Annu Rev Physiol.
1º de março de 2009;71(1):1–18.

21. Chappell MC. Nonclassical Renin-Angiotensin System and Renal Function. Comprehensive Physiology. Outubro de 2012. 2(4): p. 2733–52.

22. Kuroski de Bold M. Estrogen, natriuretic peptides and the renin–angiotensin system. Cardiovascular Research. 1º de março de 1999;41(3):524–31.

23. Komukai K, Mochizuki S, Yoshimura M. Gender and the renin-angiotensinaldosterone system: Gender and RAAS. Fundamental & Clinical Pharmacology. dezembro de 2010;24(6):687–98.

24. Dalpiaz PLM, Lamas AZ, Caliman IF, Ribeiro RF, Abreu GR, Moyses MR, et al. Sex Hormones Promote Opposite Effects on ACE and ACE2 Activity, Hypertrophy and Cardiac Contractility in Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats. Bader M, organizador. PLoS ONE. 26 de maio de 2015;10(5):e0127515.

25. O'Donnell E, Floras JS, Harvey PJ. Estrogen status and the renin angiotensin aldosterone system. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 1° de setembro de 2014;307(5):R498–500.

26. Bernardo BC, Weeks KL, Pretorius L, McMullen JR. Molecular distinction between physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy: Experimental findings and therapeutic strategies. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. outubro de 2010;128(1):191–227.

27. Medina D, Mehay D, Arnold AC. Sex differences in cardiovascular actions of the renin–angiotensin system. Clin Auton Res. outubro de 2020;30(5):393–408.

28. Groban L, Wang H, Sun X, Ahmad S, Ferrario CM. Is Sex a Determinant of COVID-19 Infection? Truth or Myth? Curr Hypertens Rep. setembro de 2020;22(9):62.

29. Zhao Z, Wang H, Jessup JA, Lindsey SH, Chappell MC, Groban L. Role of estrogen in diastolic dysfunction. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 1° de março de 2014;306(5):H628–40.

30. Zhu J, Wang H, Chen H. Effects of Estrogen on Cardiac mRNA and LncRNA Expression Profiles in Hypertensive Mice. J of Cardiovasc Trans Res. agosto de 2021;14(4):706–27.

31. Di Giosia P, Giorgini P, Stamerra CA, Petrarca M, Ferri C, Sahebkar A. Gender Differences in Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Treatment of Hypertension. Curr Atheroscler Rep. março de 2018;20(3):13.

32. Ndzie Noah ML, Adzika GK, Mprah R, Adekunle AO, Adu-Amankwaah J, Sun H. Sex–Gender Disparities in Cardiovascular Diseases: The Effects of Estrogen on eNOS, Lipid Profile, and NFATs During Catecholamine Stress. Front Cardiovasc Med.

12 de fevereiro de 2021;8:639946.

CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS

Os achados neste trabalho auxiliam no entendimento dos mecanismos moleculares do sistema renina-angiotensina envolvidos na privação de estrogênio associada à hipertensão. Um resumo dos principais resultados está ilustrado na figura 4.



Figura 5. Sistema renina-angiotensina no coração de ratas ooforectomizadas e hipertensas. A ooforectomia leva a um aumento da pressão arterial e alterações no sistema renina-angiotensina cardíaco, levando a uma supra regulação do eixo vasoconstritor.

Após a ooforectomia, os animais apresentaram um aumento de pressão arterial, confirmando que o modelo é adequado para mimetizar os acontecimentos na pós-menopausa em mulheres. O sistema renina-angiotensina se mostra supra regulado no coração de ratas ooforectomizadas e hipertensas. Associada ao aumento da atividade dos elementos vasoconstritores do sistema renina-angiotensina, se observou hipertrofia nos cardiomiócitos dos animais hipertensos, sem aumento no número de células e sem lesão cardíaca. Além disso, nas aortas desses animais, os mesmos achados de desequilíbrio no sistema renina-angiotensina foram encontrados. Através de experimento *in vitro* foi possível avaliar que o plasma alterado desses animais interfere nas células *naïve*. Este achado, associado aos achados previamente publicados (Anexo 2) sugere que o eixo vasoconstritor do RAS pode influenciar nos efeitos pró-trombóticos vistos nas aortas e plaquetas. Nossos dados indicam o mecanismo de hipertrofia parece não envolver lesão celular direta, mas sim esteja relacionado ao aumento de proliferação e viabilidade por uma via dependente da ativação de uma via dependente da ativação de quimase/AT1R e geração intracelular de ERK1/2.

PERSPECTIVAS

Para dar seguimento ao projeto faremos análises por multiplex (luminex) para avaliar a expressão de múltiplas citocinas e proteínas envolvidas com inflamação e angiogênese no coração e células de aorta. Após um modelo bem estabelecido das alterações no sistema cardiovascular, será proposto tratamento com estrogênio, a fim de avaliar os efeitos da reposição desse hormônio na reversão das alterações observadas.

ANEXOS

1 Documento de aprovação do projeto de pesquisa na Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais do Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre





HOSPITAL DE CLÍNICAS DE PORTO ALEGRE

Grupo de Pesquisa e Pós-graduação

Carta de Aprovação

Certificamos que o projeto abaixo, que envolve a produção, manutenção ou utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto humanos), para fins de pesquisa científica, encontra-se de acordo com os preceitos da Lei nº 11.794, de 8 de outubro de 2008, do Decreto nº 6.899, de 15 de julho de 2009, e com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle de Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), e foi aprovada pela COMISSÃO DE ÉTICA NO USO DE ANIMAIS (CEUA) e pelas áreas de apoio indicadas pelo pesquisador.

Projeto: 2019/0001

Título: Efeitos modulatórios da ausência de estrogênio sobre a atividade de calicreína, enzimas pró-trombóticas e a produção de cininas no sistema vascular e renal de ratas ovariectomizadas hipertensas

Pesquisador Responsável: PAULA BARROS TERRACIANO

 Equipe de Pesquisa:

 RAQUEL DE ALMEIDA SCHNEIDER

 LAURA GAZAL PASSOS MARIANA DA SILVA

 EDUARDO PANDOLFI PASSOS

 MARKUS BERGER OLIVEIRA

BÁRBARA PILGER DOS SANTOS	SABRINA BEAL PIZZATO
FERNANDA DOS SANTOS DE OLIVEIRA	JORGE ALMEIDA GUIMARÃES
CRISTIANA PALMA KUHL	ISABEL CIRNE LIMA DE OLIVEIRA DURLI
ELIZABETH OBINO CIRNE LIMA	TUANE NERISSA ALVES GARCEZ

Data de Aprovação: 28/04/2021

Data de Término: 28/02/2022

Espécie/Linhagem	Sexo/Idade	Quantidade	Data Reunião	Documento
RATO ISOGÊNICO	F/60 Dia(s)	18	12/02/2019	Projeto
RATO ISOGÊNICO	F/60 Dia(s)	18	12/02/2019	Projeto
RATO HETEROGÊNICO	F/60 Dia(s)	4	12/02/2019	Projeto

- Os membros da CEUA/HCPA não participaram do processo de avaliação onde constam como pesquisadores.

- Toda e qualquer alteração do Projeto deverá ser comunicada à CEUA/HCPA.

- O pesquisador deverá apresentar relatórios semestrais de acompanhamento e relatório final ao CEUA/HCPA.

Impresso do sistema AGHUse-Pesquisa por CRISTIAN FIDALGO CABRAL em 28/04/2021 15:44:02



HOSPITAL DE CLÍNICAS PORTO ALEGRE RS



Assinado digitalmente por: PATRECIA ASHTON PROLLA Grupo de Pesquisa e Pós-graduação 29/04/2021 16:38:39

2 Artigo publicado na revista Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology em 2023

Estrogen depletion modulates aortic prothrombotic signaling in normotensive and spontaneously hypertensive female rats

Sabrina Beal Pizzato^{1,2‡}; Paula Barros Terraciano^{2,3‡}; Pamela Zanon^{1,2}; Cristiana Palma Kuhl^{2,3}; Tuane Nerissa Alves Garcez^{3,6}; Eduardo Pandolfi Passos^{2,3,4}; Lucas Tirloni⁵ & Markus Berger^{1,2,5*}

1. Grupo de Reprodução e Farmacologia Celular, Laboratório de Bioquímica Farmacológica, Centro de Pesquisa Experimental (CPE), Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (HCPA-UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

2. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências de Saúde: Ginecologia e Obstetrícia (PPGGO), Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

3. Grupo de Reprodução e Farmacologia Celular, Laboratório de Embriologia e Diferenciação Celular, Centro de Pesquisa Experimental (CPE), Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (HCPA-UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

4. Departamento de Ginecologia e Obstetrícia, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

5. Tick-Pathogen Transmission Unit, Laboratory of Bacteriology, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Hamilton, MT, USA.

6. Unidade de Experimentação Animal, Centro de Pesquisa Experimental (CPE), Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (HCPA-UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

[†]These authors contributed equally to this work.

Short Title: Prothrombotic mechanism in menopause

*Corresponding author: Dr. Markus Berger. Rocky Mountain Laboratories, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Hamilton, MT, USA. Tel.: +1 406-802-6232. E-mail: markus.oliveira@nih.gov or markusoliveira@hcpa.edu.br.

Abstract

Aim: In this study, we investigated how platelets and aorta contribute to the creation and maintenance of a prothrombotic state in an experimental model of postmenopausal hypertension in ovariectomized rats. Methods: Bilateral ovariectomy was performed in both 14-week-old female spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. The animals were kept in phytoestrogen free diet. Vascular parameters, platelet, coagulation and aortic prothrombotic functions and mechanisms were assessed. Results: Exacerbated platelet aggregation was observed in both SHR and WKY animals after ovariectomy. The mechanism was related to aortic COX2 downregulation and reduction in AMP, ADP, and ATP hydrolysis in serum and platelets. A procoagulant potential was observed in plasma from ovariectomized rats and this was confirmed by kallikrein and factor Xa generation in aortic rings. Aortic rings derived from ovariectomized SHR presented a greater thrombin generation capacity compared to equivalent rings from WKY animals. The mechanism involved tissue factor and PAR-1 upregulation as well as an increase in extrinsic coagulation and fibrinolysis markers in aorta and platelets. Aortic smooth muscle cells pre-treated with a plasma pool derived from estrogen-depleted animals developed a procoagulant profile with tissue factor upregulation. This procoagulant profile was dependent on inflammatory signalling, since NF $\!\kappa B$ inhibition attenuated the procoagulant activity and tissue factor expression. Conclusions: A prothrombotic phenotype was observed in both WKY and SHR ovariectomized rats being associated with platelet hyperreactivity and tissue factor upregulation in aorta and platelets. The mechanism involves proinflammatory signalling that supports greater thrombin generation in aorta and vascular smooth muscle cells.

Keywords: Estrogen, hypertension, menopause, platelet, tissue factor, thrombosis.

1. Introduction

The arterial vascular wall contributes to thrombotic complications in a variety of disease states, including but not limited to hypertension, atherosclerosis, diabetes, stroke, and sepsis (Esmon and Esmon, 2011; Lacolley et al., 2012). Vascular wall cells (mainly endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells) can generate a hypercoagulable state by supporting procoagulant enzyme formation (Pawlinski et al., 2004). The vascular wall also functionally modulates and interacts with tissue factor expressing cells that participate in thrombus growth such as platelets, neutrophils, and monocytes (Grover and Mackman, 2018). In hypertension, experimental evidence suggests a hemostatic balance impairment in vasculature. Spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) exhibited accelerated FeCl₃-induced thrombus formation in carotid arteries (Ait Aissa et al., 2015). Accordingly, vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) supported a greater thrombin generation capacity when compared to VSMCs from normotensive control rats (Ait Aissa et al., 2015). Clinical studies also have reported higher plasma levels of D-dimers, fibrinogen, thrombin-antithrombin complex (TAT), and FVII in hypertensive patients compared to normotensive individuals (Arikan and Sen, 2005; Junker et al., 1998). Moreover, plasma from hypertensive patients has enhanced thrombin generation capacity compared to healthy controls (Elias et al., 2019).

Regarding the prothrombotic events in postmenopausal women, the contribution of cellular and molecular mechanisms involving the vascular wall is still unclear. Gender differences in the risk of cardiovascular diseases are well known (Knowlton and Lee, 2012). Premenopausal women have lower risk than men of the same age, however, this apparent cardio protection disappears with the onset of menopause (Knowlton and Lee, 2012). Indeed, thromboembolic and coronary heart diseases are the leading cause of death in women after loss of ovarian function and the risk is even higher when associated with hypertension, obesity, diabetes, or coagulation disorders during menopause (Anagnostis et al., 2018).

Since menopause is characterized by a natural decline in estrogen production, this hormone has been implicated in several pathophysiological aspects of the vascular wall. Estrogen depletion is associated with changes in lipid metabolism, increased vascular and cardiac oxidative stress, reduced nitric oxide (NO) availability, and reduced vascular reactivity response to vasodilators (Barp et al., 2012; Knowlton and Lee, 2012; Wassmann et al., 2001). In fact, both estrogen receptor (ER) subtypes (ER α and Er β) are expressed in endothelial and VSMCs. The activation of both receptors mediates NO production (Knowlton and Lee, 2012). Systemically, the decrease in estrogen production is associated with a rise in arterial blood pressure in rat models of ovariectomy (Fang et al., 2001; Harrison-Bernard et al., 2003; Ito et al., 2006; Peng et al., 2003). The angiotensin system seems to be an important mechanism, since estrogens can regulate angiotensinogen, renin, angiotensin II (Ang II) receptors AT1 and AT2 expression, and aldosterone production (Ahmad et al., 2018; Hoshi-Fukushima et al., 2008). AT1 expression increases in blood vessels, kidney, and brain stem in estrogen-depleted SHR (Ito et al., 2006) and, in the heart, estrogen loss causes diastolic dysfunction by altering cardiomyocytes relaxation properties (Zhao et al., 2014). Interestingly, Ahmad et al., 2018 also found that chymase is the main Ang II generating enzyme in cardiomyocytes isolated from ovariectomized SHR and cardiovascular dysfunction positively correlates with an increased chymase activity in this model.

Together with systemic blood pressure changes and Ang II involvement, platelet hyperreactivity has also been described in experimental models of menopausal hypertension (Otsuka et al., 1997; Sasaki et al., 2000). Platelets

derived from salt sensitive SHR ovariectomized rats show an increased aggregatory response to classical agonists, which correlates with the rise in blood pressure levels (Otsuka et al., 1997; Sasaki et al., 2000). Once Ang II has prothrombotic effects, this may be one of the mechanisms involved (Celi et al., 2010; Mogielnicki et al., 2005). However, it is not well-understood how platelets, aorta, and VSMCs interact to create and maintain a prothrombotic state after estrogen level drops down. For this purpose, we designed a menopausal hypertension model in which bilateral ovariectomy surgery was performed in 14-week-old female SHR and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats fed with a phytoestrogen free diet. After 50 days of ovariectomy surgery, both WKY and SHR animals evolved to a vascular prothrombotic state associated with nucleotide metabolizing system down-regulation, platelet hyperreactivity, and tissue factor expression up-regulation in both aorta and platelets. We found that aorta and vascular cells are important in supporting procoagulant enzyme assembly and generation by a mechanism that was significantly exacerbated in hypertensive aorta and was dependent of tissue factor and NF-KB-mediated proinflammatory signalling.

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Animals

Twenty Wistar Kyoto (WKY) and 20 spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) female rats were used in this study. The animals (60-days old, weighting 170-200 g) were acquired from the Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul Animal House (Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil) and maintained throughout the experiment (90 days total period) in the animal facility of our institution at the Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil), following the Brazilian Law number 11.794/2008, which provides guidance and regulation for scientific research involving animals. Animals were kept at 20–24 °C in a 40-60 % relative air humidity environment with 12 h dark/light cycle and free access to water and food. During their first 60 days, animals received regular standard rodent chow and in the next 90 days, they received a soy-free based diet (PRAGSOLUÇÕES, SP, Brazil) to avoid phytoestrogens interference. All the procedures involving animals were carried out according to the Brazilian Guideline for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific and Educational Purposes (DBCA, RN 30/2016) as stated by the CONCEA (National Council for Control of Animal Experimental Research Center at Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil (protocol number 19001/2019).

2.2 Experimental design

An experimental model of postmenopausal hypertension in ovariectomized rats was developed (Fig. 1A). The animals arrived at our institution 60 days after birth and this date was considered as day zero of our protocol. At day 40 (with approximately 14 weeks of age), the animals were randomly assigned to undergo either bilateral ovariectomy (OVX) or SHAM surgery (referred here as gonadal-intact animals). The experimental groups (n = 10/group) were as follows: (*i*) Wistar Kyoto rats – SHAM operated (WKY-SHAM); (*ii*) Wistar Kyoto rats – ovariectomized (WKY-OVX); (*iii*) Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats – SHAM operated (SHR-SHAM); and (*iv*) Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats – ovariectomized (SHR-OVX). At day 90 (50 days after surgery), the protocol was completed and the animals were euthanised for sample collection. Five days before either surgery (at day 35) or euthanasia (at day 85), blood pressure and 17- β estradiol levels were measured. 17- β estradiol was measured

by a competitive ELISA-like immunoassay following the manufacturer instructions (E2 ELISA kit, CEA461Ge, Cloud-Clone Corp., Houston, TX, USA). On the same days of blood pressure measurements, a vaginal smear was also collected for estrous cycle phase evaluations. All animals submitted to OVX surgery were in the diestrous phase to avoid metabolic variations. During the entire protocol rats were weighed once a week.

2.3 Surgical procedure

Surgery was conducted under inhaled general anaesthesia with isoflurane vaporized in oxygen (5 % for induction, 2 % for maintenance) and the animal's body temperature was maintained at 37 °C throughout the procedures. The ovariectomized group of rats had both ovaries removed, while SHAM operated group were submitted to the identical surgical protocol but does not have their ovaries removed. After anesthetic induction, animals were positioned in lateral decubitus, were trichotomized in both the right and left flanks and an incision of approximately 0.5 cm caudally to the last rib was carried out to reach the abdominal cavity. After the muscle and subcutaneous tissue dissection, the ovary was exposed and two ligation sutures were positioned between the Fallopian tube (close to the uterine horn), vessels, and periovarian adipose tissue. The organ was then removed after a single incision between the two suture ligations. The same procedure was repeated contralaterally and muscle and skin layers were then sutured using polyglactin 910 (Vicryl®) 4-0 and mononaylon 5-0, respectively. Analgesic support was provided after the surgery by a single dipyrone dose (500 mg/kg, via i.m.) and over the first three days post-surgery with tramadol (5 mg/kg, via i.p.) twice a day, every 12 h. After 50 days (at day 90, **Fig. 1A**) of ovariectomy, animals were deeply anesthetized with isoflurane for blood and organ collection. Euthanasia occurred by exsanguination until cardiorespiratory arrest.

2.4 Biological sample preparation

Blood (approximately 10 mL) was obtained by cardiac puncture in 1:10 (v/v) 3.8 % trisodium citrate. Then platelet-rich plasma (PRP) was prepared immediately by centrifugation at 200 x g in three cycles of 5 min each. The PRP was used for all platelet aggregation experiments at the same day of its collection. Platelet-poor plasma (PPP) was obtained by blood centrifugation at $1,500 \times g$ for 10 min. PPP was aliquoted and stored at -20 °C until use in the coagulation assays, cell treatments, and nucleotidase activity determinations. Abdominal and the descending thoracic aorta and uterus were also collected. Abdominal and thoracic aorta were washed in cold phosphate-buffered saline and kept on ice until use. The thoracic aorta was immediately sectioned in two-millimetre rings and processed as previously described (Ait Aissa et al., 2015) for the aortic ring procoagulant profile assays (see details below). The abdominal aorta was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C for tissue extract processing and western-blot experiments. The fresh (wet) uterus was weighed in an analytical scale, frozen and kept at -80 °C.

2.5 Cardiovascular parameters

On the 35th and 85th day of the protocol (**Fig. 1A**), heart rate, systolic and diastolic blood pressure were measured in conscious rats by the tail-cuff method (Insight, Ribeirao Preto, SP, Brazil). The animals were properly adapted to the equipment and the measurement procedure before the protocol started. Three consecutive readings of blood pressure and heart rate were recorded per animal.

2.6 Platelet aggregation

Platelet aggregation agonists ADP (10 μ M) or collagen (2.5 μ g/mL) were incubated for 5 min at 37 °C in 96-well flat-bottomed plates containing Tyrode-albumin buffer, pH 7.4. Aggregation response was then triggered by the addition of PRP suspension (3-4 x 10⁵ cells/ μ L) and changes in turbidity were monitored at 650 nm in intervals of 11 s for 30 min using a microplate reader (SpectraMAX 190, Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). The decrease in turbidity over time was measured in absorbance units and results expressed as area under the aggregation curves, as previously described (Berger et al., 2010).

2.7 Nucleotide hydrolysis

The hydrolysis of extracellular nucleotides was determined in serum and platelets by an enzymatic assay as already described (Naasani et al., 2017). E-NTPDase (ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase) and ecto-5'-nucleotidase activities were measured through the malachite green method using ATP, ADP, and AMP as substrates and KH₂PO₄ as Pi standard. Nucleotide spontaneous hydrolysis was monitored during incubation in absence of serum or platelet extracts. All samples were run in triplicate and enzyme specific activity was expressed as nmol Pi released per min per mg of protein. Phosphodiesterase activity (E-NPP, nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase) was assessed by using the synthetic chromogenic substrate thymidine 5'-monophosphate p-nitrophenyl ester, p-Nph-5'-TMP (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA) at a final concentration of 0.5 mM. The kinetics of p-nitrophenol release was monitored at 405 nm during a total time of 30 min with 14 s intervals between reads. Enzyme activity was expressed as mOD of p-nitrophenol released per min per mg of protein.

2.8 Blood coagulation

The following coagulation parameters were measured in citrated plasma: activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), prothrombin time (PT), thrombin time (TT), and fibrinogen levels (FBG). These parameters were determined using commercially available kits following the general manufacturer's instructions (Sullab Diagnosticos, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil).

2.9 Aortic ring assays

To measure the procoagulant profile acquired by normotensive and hypertensive ovariectomized rat aorta, we design an aortic ring assay based on the procedure previously described by Ait Aissa et al., 2015, with some modifications. Thoracic aortic rings (approximately 2 mm) were resuspended in Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate buffer containing 2 g/L bovine serum albumin and incubated at 37 °C for 5 min. Then, a mixture of activated factor VII (FVIIa) (2 nM), factor X (FX) (1.2 nM), activated factor V (FVa) (2.5 nM), and prothrombin (10 nM) was added and thrombin generation monitored by changes in absorbance at 405 nm after the addition of 0.2 mM S2238 substrate (H-D-Phe-Pip-Arg-p-nitroanilide). Similarly, activated factor X (FXa) generation was also measured in the presence of aortic rings by adding a mixture containing FVIIa (2 nM), FX (8 nM) and 0.2 mM S2222 substrate (Bz-Ile-Glu-Gly-Arg-p-nitroanilide). For the plasma kallikrein generation assay, the aortic rings were incubated in Krebs-Ringer with human plasma deficient in prothrombin (diluted 1:5) containing 100 nM corn trypsin inhibitor. Kallikrein formation was then followed at 405 nm by adding S2302 substrate (H-D-Pro-Phe-Arg-p-nitroanilide). In this case, both prothrombin deficient plasma and corn trypsin inhibitor were used to avoid thrombin and activated factor XII (FXIIa) interference, respectively. Kinetic readings were taken over 40 min (14 s intervals) for all the aortic ring assays using 96-well plates in a final volume of 150 µL.

2.10 Nitrite/nitrate measurements

Total nitrate and nitrite levels (NO_x) were determined as an indication of NO production. The measurements were performed in total plasma and aorta extracts according to the Griess method (Miranda et al., 2001).

2.11 Cell culture experiments

Vascular smooth muscle cells (VMSC) (A7r5 cell line, ATCC® CRL-1444), derived from rat thoracic aorta, were cultured in DMEM (high glucose) containing 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS), 50 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin following the standards for cell culture maintenance. VMSCs were used to investigate if the plasmaderived from normotensive and hypertensive OVX rats could induce a procoagulant profile on cell surface. For this purpose, a similar experimental design as described by Berger et al., 2019 was followed. Confluent VSMC monolayers seeded in 96-well plates were treated for 1 h with 5, 10 or 30 % of plasma obtained from OVX and SHAM-operated animals diluted in DMEM without FBS. Then, the medium was removed and cells were washed twice in PBS. The procoagulant profile triggered on VSMC surface was determined by the aPTT assay after addition (50 µL) of a normal rat plasma pool collected from healthy animals. To verify if the procoagulant profile induced on VSMCs was time-dependent, VSMC monolayers were treated with 10 % diluted plasma and cells were washed and processed for aPTT assay after different time-points of incubation (30 min, 1, 2, 4, and 24 h), using the same procedure described before. In another set of experiments, VSMCs were pre-treated overnight (in the presence of 1 % FBS) with PBS or 0.1 µM PDTC to block the NF-κB pathway. Then, it was added 10 % diluted plasma from OVX and SHAM animals in absence of FBS. Incubation was maintained for an additional 2 h and after a washing step, aPTT was measured as above using normal plasma pool. In all experimental settings, clot formation kinetics was monitored (650 nm) at a time interval of 10 s for a total time of 20 min on a SpectraMAX 190 microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA).

2.12 Western blotting

Protein expression of different biomarkers related to thrombosis was evaluated in tissue (aorta) and cell (platelets and VSMCs) extracts by immunoblot. Following standard procedures, proteins (30-50 µg) were separated by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions, transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes, incubated with primary and secondary-horseradish peroxidase conjugated antibodies, and revealed using the colorimetric kit Opti-4CN (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Protein expression levels were normalized against β -actin and quantified using Image J software (available at https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/). The following antibodies and dilutions were used: Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) – 1:500 (D5H5 #12282 – Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA); inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) – 1:200 (M-19 #sc-650 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA); tissue factor (TF) – 1:500 (I-20 #sc-23596 – Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA); kallikrein-1 (KLK1) – 1:500 (13G11 #19901 – QED Bioscience, San Diego, CA, USA); factor X (FX) – 1:500 (C-20 #sc-16341 – Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA); protease activated receptor – 1 (PAR1) – 1:500 (ATAP2 #sc-13503 – Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA); plasminogen activator inhibitor – 1 (PAI-1) – 1:1000 (M-20 #sc-6644 – Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA); plasminogen activator inhibitor – 1 (PAI-1) – 1:500 (#CSB-PAI4319A0Rb, Cusabio Biotech Co., Wuhan, China); and β -actin – 1:1000 (#A-1978, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Loius, MO, USA).

2.13 Data analysis

The data are presented as means \pm SE, and significant differences were analysed by one-way ANOVA followed by an unpaired t-test with Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. Cardiovascular parameters were analysed by the method of Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE) followed by Bonferroni's test. Data from body and uterus weight were analysed using Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's test. P-values of 0.05 were significant considered to be significant. Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) or SPSS 20.0 software.

3. Results

In this work we designed an experimental model of post-menopausal hypertension in ovariectomized rats to better understand how thrombotic mechanisms in the aorta are impacted by estrogen reduction. For this purpose, we subjected both WKY and SHR female rats feeding on phytoestrogen free diet to a bilateral ovariectomy (OVX) surgery (**Fig.1A**). Rat body weight increased in groups that had their ovaries removed (**Fig. 1B**). The OVX surgery efficiency was confirmed by uterine atrophy, as demonstrated by a significant reduction in the uterus weight in ovariectomized animals (**Fig 1C**). The 17- β estradiol levels also reduced in post-OVX rats compared to its baseline values pre-surgery (**Table S1**). Normotensive WKY animals had lower systolic (SBP) and diastolic (DBP) blood pressure levels compared to SHR at the baseline pre-OVX measurements (**Table 1**). The difference between these parameters increased significantly 50 days post-OVX surgery. Estrogen depletion led to hypertension in WKY animals, since SBP increased from 132 ± 4.7 to 169 ± 3 mmHg, while in SHR it led to an exacerbated hypertensive response with SBP increasing from 159 ± 3.5 to 176 ± 2.5 mmHg (**Table 1**).

The first evidence that ovariectomized animals evolved to a prothrombotic state was obtained from ex-vivo platelet aggregation assays (Fig. 2). Platelets from both WKY and SHR rats showed an exacerbated aggregatory response to ADP (Fig. 2A-C) and collagen (Fig. 2D-F) after OVX. Hypertensive animals from SHR group did not have a higher aggregatory response compared to WKY-SHAM group, but this effect slightly increased after OVX surgery compared to WKY-OVX group (Fig. 2B-C and E-F). To investigate the mechanisms behind the platelet pro-aggregatory response, our primary hypothesis was the nitric oxide system. Interestingly, nitrate/nitrite levels in plasma and aorta and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression in aorta did not change significantly between groups, despite a little increase observed in nitrite/nitrate levels in plasma of spontaneously hypertensive ovariectomized rats (SHR-OVX) (Fig. 3A-C). Alternatively, when the aorta cyclooxygenase-2 expression was analysed, a reduction around of 50 % was observed both in WKY and SHR groups after OVX surgery (Fig. 3C). The second hypothesis was to investigate nucleotide metabolism involved in platelet aggregation, since ADP is one of the most important aggregation agonist and adenosine is a physiological inhibitor that controls this process. As shown in Figure 4, E-NTPDase (ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase) and ecto-5'- nucleotidase activities reduced almost at the same extent in serum and platelets of normotensive (WKY) or hypertensive (SHR) animals after ovarian removal. The presence of basal hypertension increased ADP hydrolysis on platelets, but estrogen depletion downregulated this parameter (Fig. 4F). Looking to phosphodiesterase activity (E-NPP), SHR had the highest activity levels compared to normotensive rats in both serum and platelets. After OVX, an opposite effect was observed, E-NPP increased in serum from WKY group and decreased in platelets from spontaneously hypertensive animals (Fig. 4D and H).

Like platelet aggregation, plasma coagulation parameters also changed significantly after ovariectomy (Fig. 5). Extrinsic, intrinsic, and common pathways of blood coagulation were evaluated in citrated plasma by the classical tests such as aPTT, PT, TT, and fibrinogen levels measurements. In general, plasma from OVX animals coagulated faster than those from SHAM-operated animals independent of the basal hypertension levels pre-surgery. This event was particularly evident in intrinsic pathway measurements (aPTT was around of 25 s in the SHAM group, while the coagulation time was 15 s in OVX) but was also observed in extrinsic and common pathway measurements, such as in PT and TT, respectively (Fig. 5A-C and E). In agreement with these alterations, fibrinogen levels drop down in estrogen depleted groups, being more evident in WKY-OVX group (Fig. 5F).

Aiming to understand how the aorta can contribute to the generation and maintenance of prothrombotic state, we designed some experiments to measure the complex assembly and activity of the main procoagulant enzymes on the aortic ring surface. As shown in **Figure 6**, the aortic rings can support the complex assembly responsible for kallikrein, FXa and thrombin generation. However, the procoagulant enzyme generation was higher in aortic rings from estrogen deficient rats (**Fig. 6A-C**). Interestingly, hypertension exacerbated thrombin generation in aortic rings from SHR-OVX group compared to those from WKY-OVX group, which were originally normotensive pre-ovarian removal surgery (**Fig. 6C**). Corroborating these findings, tissue factor expression (the main molecule known as an initiator of extrinsic coagulation pathway), increased in both the aorta (**Fig. 7A**) and the platelet (**Fig. 7B**) surface from ovariectomized animals. In a similar way, OVX increased the aortic expression of other prothrombotic (FII and FX) (**Fig. 8A and C**) and fibrinolytic (PAI-1 and uPA) (**Fig. 8 B and D**) proteins, being uPA markedly up-regulated by the presence of basal hypertension, such as in SHR-OVX animals (**Fig. 8D**). As a consequence of procoagulant enzyme activation, the protease activated receptor 1 (PAR-1), the main receptor cleaved by thrombin and FXa-induced intracellular signalling, also appeared upregulated in WKY-OVX and SHR-OVX aorta (**Fig. 8C**).

Next, we investigated if the plasma-derived from estrogen deficient animals could also activate and induce a prothrombotic profile in naive VSMCs *in vitro*. For this purpose, we chose a VSMC cell line (A7r5) derived from rat thoracic aorta, which was treated with increasing concentrations of plasma from normotensive and hypertensive OVX rats. As shown in **Figure 9**, normal healthy plasma coagulated faster on VSMC surface pretreated with OVX-derived plasma from both normotensive (WKY-OVX) and hypertensive (SHR-OVX) animals. The procoagulant profile triggered by OVX plasma was dose-dependent (**Fig. 9A**) and more pronounced in VSMC treated up to 2 h, being similar to the control levels in cells treated by 24 h (**Fig. 9B**). We also observed that OVX-derived plasma significantly increased the tissue factor expression on VSMC mainly between 30 min and 2 h post-treatment (**Fig. 9C and D**). In the last experiment (**Fig. 10**), we hypothesized that the upregulation of the tissue factor and the consequent procoagulant profile triggered on VSMC could be linked to an inflammatory intracellular signalling. To properly test this hypothesis, prior to the addition of OVX-derived plasma, cells were treated with PDTC, a NF- κ B pathway inhibitor. As shown in **Figure 10A**, blocking the NF- κ B mediated pathway reduced significantly the procoagulant effect triggered by WKY-OVX and SHR-OVX plasma on VSMC surface. The reduction in VSMC-induced procoagulant activity was accompanied by a down-regulation in tissue factor expression on cells previously treated with PDTC (**Fig. 10B**).

4. Discussion

In this study, we developed an experimental model of postmenopausal hypertension induced by bilateral ovariectomy in 14-week-old WKY and SHR female rats. We found that acute endogenous estrogen deprivation after ovariectomy promptly increases the blood pressure independent of a previous basal hypertensive condition, leading to a systemic vascular prothrombotic state. The mechanism behind this finding involved a platelet hyperreactivity, which was directly related to the downregulation of the nucleotide degradation system and the upregulation of tissue factor in both platelets and aorta. The aorta participates in the mechanism by supporting procoagulant enzyme generation, including thrombin, and this event is significantly exacerbated in hypertensive aorta. Interestingly, we found that plasma derived from ovariectomized animals can trigger a prothrombotic profile in cultured vascular cells by increasing tissue factor expression through NF- κ B-dependent pathway.

Since hypertension is an important risk factor for vascular thromboembolic events in the postmenopausal period, we decided to use SHR animals, which are a known model of preestablished and sustained hypertension. Previous studies have reported that feeding ovariectomized SHR a high-salt diet will further exacerbate the level of hypertension, which was not observed in normotensive animals (Fang et al., 2001; Harrison-Bernard et al., 2003; Peng et al., 2003). In contrast, Ito et al., 2006 measured blood pressure by radiotelemetry and detected a significant SBP increase in both ovariectomized normotensive (WKY) and SHR feeding a phytoestrogen free diet with standard levels of NaCl. Another important point to be considered in this case is the animal age at the moment of ovary removal surgery. Rats ovariectomized at a young age only develop hypertension when fed a high-salt diet (Fang et al., 2001; Harrison-Bernard et al., 2003), whereas rats ovariectomized at ages from 12-14 weeks-old have increased arterial pressure feeding a phytoestrogen-devoid diet containing both standard or high-NaCl amounts (Ito et al., 2006; Peng et al., 2003). In this study, we ovariectomized 14-week-old animals previously feeding a phytoestrogen free diet with standard NaCl and we followed them for a longer period (50 days). In a similar way to that observed by Ito et al., 2006, we found that both normotensive WKY and SHR animals had increased SBP, DBP, and HR compared to the basal measurements before bilateral ovariectomy surgery. This indicates that it would be a good model to study thromboembolic alteration during postmenopausal hypertension. Of course, following the animals for longer periods of time after ovariectomy would be ideal mainly to mimic the vascular dysfunction caused by senescence in elder menopausal women. Therefore, the endpoint of the protocol may be a limitation to be considered in our study. Regarding the mechanism involved in estrogen depletioninduced hypertension, Ahmad et al., 2018 found an up-regulation of chymase-derived angiotensin II (Ang II) in cardiomyocytes isolated from ovariectomized SHR. Once Ang II has a prothrombotic effect causing platelet hyperreactivity (Fang et al., 2013; Mogielnicki et al., 2005), it is possible that chymase-derived Ang II has also a role in the prothrombotic events observed here. However, this deserves further exploration.

The first evidence of a systemic prothrombotic state was the procoagulant activity observed in plasma coagulation tests and platelet hyperreactivity. Platelets from ovariectomized animals had an enhanced response when stimulated with ADP and collagen. Accordingly, platelets from ovariectomized Dahl-salt-sensitive rats also showed an exacerbated aggregatory response to thrombin by a mechanism dependent of intracellular calcium and PKC activation (Sasaki et al., 2000). Here, we found that other mechanisms may be involved. Nitrite/nitrate levels in plasma and iNOS expression in aorta remained unchanged, while COX-2 decreased in aorta. Both nitric oxide and COX-2 are important platelet regulators since they cause vasodilation and reduce the aggregatory response through cGMP and PGI₂ generation, respectively (Shah, 2005). Thus, COX-2 downregulation can contribute to a

prothrombotic state by maintaining a vasoconstrictive response and platelet hyperreactivity. Another mechanism we found was related to the inhibition of nucleotide degradation system in estrogen depleted groups. The same nucleotides used in energy metabolism also participate as platelet aggregation regulators. ATP and ADP are stored in platelet dense granules and are secreted during platelet activation. Extracellular ATP is rapidly metabolized in a cascade hydrolysis into ADP, AMP and finally adenosine by the ecto-enzymes E-NTPDase (CD39), ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) and E-NPP (Koupenova and Ravid, 2018). Secreted ATP and ADP, as well as ADP deriving from ATP degradation, activate P2Y1, P2Y12, and P2X1 receptors. Through the P2Y12 receptor, ADP strongly modulates the growth and stability of thrombus by potentiating platelet dense granule release, platelet aggregation and procoagulant activity (Ballerini et al., 2018). On the other hand, adenosine through the P1 receptors acts as a counterregulatory molecule increasing cAMP intracellular levels and inhibiting platelet aggregation (Koupenova and Ravid, 2018). Thus, nucleotide hydrolysis can control the balance between pro and anti-aggregatory profiles. Interestingly, ATP, ADP, and AMP hydrolysis decrease at similar rates in serum and platelets of normotensive and hypertensive ovariectomized animals. This suggests that estrogen deprivation changes nucleotide metabolism shifting the balance, favouring ADP/ATP accumulation and, thus, contributing to platelet hyperreactivity.

Platelets, endothelial cells and VSMC participate in the initial and amplification phases of clot formation. They offer a proper surface of negatively charged phospholipids for coagulation factor complex assembly (Esmon and Esmon, 2011). Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the outer membrane of platelets and vascular cells regulated by flip-flop mechanism is thought to account for the procoagulant profile of these cells. A previous report showed that aortic rings and VSMC from SHR animals had increased amounts of negatively charged phospholipid procoagulant activity, which was correlated to a greater thrombin generation at the surface of SHR-derived aortic rings compared to WKY control rings (Ait Aissa et al., 2015). The authors found that hypertension-induced intracellular calcium elevation in SHR cells promoted the flip-flop process causing exposure of negatively charged phospholipids (Ait Aissa et al., 2015). While changes in membrane phospholipid rearrangement allow coagulation factor binding, the protein effectively responsible for triggering FXa and thrombin generation on vascular cell surface is the tissue factor (TF) (Grover and Mackman, 2018). In fact, it has been shown that SHR has higher levels of TF associated with VSMC, but the present work is the first to demonstrate that estrogen depletion exacerbates TF expression in platelets and aorta. TF was upregulated to a similar extent in both normotensive and hypertensive ovariectomized animals. TF is the major cellular initiator of blood coagulation (Pawlinski et al., 2004). It is a type I transmembrane glycoprotein that orchestrates the initiating cascade by binding to FVII and facilitating its activation to VIIa. FVIIa that is not bound to TF has little activity (Riewald and Ruf, 2002). Once activated, the complex TF-VIIa binds to its substrate FX, generating FXa. The TF-VIIa-Xa complex efficiently cleaves prothrombin (FII) producing the main procoagulant enzyme, thrombin. TF-VIIa-Xa and thrombin also intimately links coagulation to inflammation, since these proteases are PAR-1 and PAR-2 activators triggering proinflammatory cytokines through NF-kB pathway (Riewald and Ruf, 2002). Consistent with TF up-regulation in the aorta, we observed that aortic rings derived from ovariectomized rats supported an increased generation activity of kallikrein, FXa and thrombin on their surface. In this case, ovariectomized SHR presented a greater thrombin generation capacity compared to equivalent rings from normotensive rats, suggesting that estrogen depletion shifted vascular hemostatic balance toward a prothrombotic phenotype.

It is known that high blood pressure can induce microlesions on the vascular wall (Mogielnicki et al., 2005; Wassmann et al., 2001). This fact associated with higher radial hydraulic conductance in hypertensive vessels can facilitate blood clotting factors not only to bind directly to exposed endothelial cells, but also effectively crossing through the lumen reaching medial VSMCs (Lacolley et al., 2012). Thus, we hypothesized that procoagulant markers could be detected directly on vascular tissue extracts. In fact, aorta derived from estrogen depleted rats had increased levels of procoagulant (FX and FII) and fibrinolytic (PAI-1 and uPA) protein biomarkers, which corroborates with higher TF expression and procoagulant enzyme generation on aortic rings. To further explore VSMCs contribution to the hypercoagulable state, we designed some additional experiments in which the A7r5 VSMC cell line was treated with plasma-derived from ovariectomized animals. The rationale behind these experiments was based on previous observations showing that the capacity of activated platelets and even VSMCs to secrete soluble TF-enriched microparticles that circulates free in the blood stream (Pawlinski et al., 2004). Then we further wondering if the plasma derived from hypercoagulable estrogen-depleted animals could also induce a procoagulant activity on naïve VSMCs. Interestingly, VSMCs treated with estrogen deficient plasma had TF expression induced in the first 2 h. In accordance, when normal plasma was added to these cells previously treated with estrogen deficient plasma, it coagulated faster compared to untreated cells. This suggests that estrogen deficient plasma from WKY and SHR activates and triggers a procoagulant profile on VSMC, independent of basal hypertension levels before ovariectomy. Additionally, we also observed that the mechanism behind these effects in VSMCs involves an inflammatory pathway mediated by NF-KB, since PDTC (a NF-KB blocker) significantly reduced TF expression and procoagulant activity on VSMC surface. As previously mentioned, thrombin and TF complex (TF-VIIa-Xa) generated during hypercoagulable states are linked to proinflammatory signalling through the activation of PAR-1 and PAR-2 receptors (Riewald and Ruf, 2002). For example, in endothelial cells thrombin participates in a positive feedback loop, activating PAR-1 and inducing TF expression up-regulation which in turn contributes to increases in FXa and thrombin formation (Minami et al., 2004). Once activated, PAR-1 regulates TF expression triggering ΙκΒα proteolytic degradation and inducing nuclear translocation of NF-KB and c-Rel/p65 complexes (Pendurthi et al., 1997). Similarly, PAR-1 also regulates the expression of other proinflammatory molecules such as ICAM, VCAM and IL-6 (Grover and Mackman, 2018; Minami et al., 2004). Since PAR-1 is up-regulated in aorta from ovariectomized animals, it is reasonable to suppose that such mechanism strongly contributes to the prothrombotic profile described here in our model (an overview for the mechanism is presented in Fig. 11).

5. Conclusions

The results of this study aid our understanding of the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying the highest risk of prothrombotic events and its association with hypertension in postmenopausal women. We found that surgically induced estrogen deprivation in rats leads to a vascular prothrombotic state associated with a decrease in the nucleotide metabolizing system, platelet hyperreactivity and tissue factor expression up-regulation in both aorta and platelets. Aorta and vascular cells are important players being able to support procoagulant enzyme generation by a mechanism that was significantly exacerbated in hypertensive aorta. Interestingly, plasma derived from hypercoagulable estrogen-depleted rats can also trigger a prothrombotic profile in cultured naive vascular cells by increasing tissue factor expression through NF-κB-dependent pathway (Fig. 11). Thus, our data suggest

that targeting tissue factor mediated events could be a therapeutic option for vascular thromboembolic complications in the postmenopausal period.

6. Acknowledgments

This work was supported by funding and fellowships from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico, Ministério da Ciência e Tecnologia, Brazil (Chamada Universal MCTI/CNPq N° 01/2016, Grant 402523/2016-4 and Chamada Universal MCTI/CNPq N° 28/2018, Grant 422347/2018-3) and Fundo de Incentivo à Pesquisa e Eventos (FIPE-HCPA, GPPG Grants n° 19-0001; 19-0607; 21-0477) at Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre. LT and MB were also supported by the Intramural Research Program of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, grant Tick saliva and its importance for tick feeding and pathogen transmission (Z01 AI001337-01). Figure 1 and 11 were created using BioRender.com.

7. Conflict of Interest Statement

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

8. Credit author statement

<u>SBP and PBT</u>: Methodology, Investigation, Validation, Formal Analysis, Writing-Original draft; <u>PZ, CPK and TNAG</u>: Methodology, Investigation; <u>EPP and LT</u>: Resources, Funding acquisition; <u>MB</u>: Conceptualization, Investigation, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Writing-Review & Editing.

9. Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

8. References

- Ahmad, S., Sun, X., Lin, M., Varagic, J., Zapata-Sudo, G., Ferrario, C.M., Groban, L., Wang, H., 2018. Blunting of estrogen modulation of cardiac cellular chymase/RAS activity and function in SHR. J. Cell. Physiol. 233, 3330–3342. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26179
- Ait Aissa, K., Lagrange, J., Mohamadi, A., Louis, H., Houppert, B., Challande, P., Wahl, D., Lacolley, P., Regnault, V., 2015. Vascular smooth muscle cells are responsible for a prothrombotic phenotype of spontaneously hypertensive rat arteries. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35, 930–937. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.305377
- Anagnostis, P., Paschou, S.A., Katsiki, N., Krikidis, D., Lambrinoudaki, I., Goulis, D.G., 2018. Menopausal Hormone Therapy and Cardiovascular Risk: Where are we Now? Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol. 17, 564–572. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570161116666180709095348
- Arikan, E., Sen, S., 2005. Endothelial damage and hemostatic markers in patients with uncomplicated mild-to-moderate hypertension and relationship with risk factors. Clin. Appl. Thromb. Hemost. 11, 147–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/107602960501100204
- Ballerini, P., Dovizio, M., Bruno, A., Tacconelli, S., Patrignani, P., 2018. P2Y12 receptors in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Front. Pharmacol. 9, 66. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHAR.2018.00066/BIBTEX
- Barp, J., Sartório, C.L., Campos, C., Llesuy, S.F., Araujo, A.S., Belló-Klein, A., 2012. Influence of ovariectomy on cardiac oxidative stress in a renovascular hypertension model. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 90, 1229–1234. https://doi.org/10.1139/Y2012-078
- Berger, M., de Moraes, J.A., Beys-da-Silva, W.O., Santi, L., Terraciano, P.B., Driemeier, D., Cirne-Lima, E.O., Passos, E.P.,

Vieira, M.A.R., Barja-Fidalgo, T.C., Guimarães, J.A., 2019. Renal and vascular effects of kallikrein inhibition in a model of Lonomia obliqua venom-induced acute kidney injury. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0007197

- Berger, M., Reck, J., Terra, R.M.S., Pinto, A.F.M., Termignoni, C., Guimarães, J. a, 2010. Lonomia obliqua caterpillar envenomation causes platelet hypoaggregation and blood incoagulability in rats. Toxicon 55, 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxicon.2009.06.033
- Celi, A., Cianchetti, S., Dellomo, G., Pedrinelli, R., 2010. Angiotensin II, tissue factor and the thrombotic paradox of hypertension. Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther. 8, 1723–1729. https://doi.org/10.1586/erc.10.161
- Elias, A., Rock, W., Odetalla, A., Ron, G., Schwartz, N., Saliba, W., Elias, M., 2019. Enhanced thrombin generation in patients with arterial hypertension. Thromb. Res. 174, 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2018.11.027
- Esmon, C.T., Esmon, N.L., 2011. The link between vascular features and thrombosis. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 73, 503–514. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-012110-142300
- Fang, C., Stavrou, E., Schmaier, A.A., Grobe, N., Morris, M., Chen, A., Nieman, M.T., Adams, G.N., LaRusch, G., Zhou, Y., Bilodeau, M.L., Mahdi, F., Warnock, M., Schmaier, A.H., 2013. Angiotensin 1-7 and Mas decrease thrombosis in Bdkrb2-/- mice by increasing NO and prostacyclin to reduce platelet spreading and glycoprotein VI activation. Blood 121, 3023–3032. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-09-459156
- Fang, Z., Carlson, S.H., Chen, Y.F., Oparil, S., Wyss, J.M., 2001. Estrogen depletion induces NaCl-sensitive hypertension in female spontaneously hypertensive rats. Am. J. Physiol. - Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 281. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.2001.281.6.r1934
- Grover, S.P., Mackman, N., 2018. Tissue Factor: An Essential Mediator of Hemostasis and Trigger of Thrombosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 38, 709–725. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309846
- Harrison-Bernard, L.M., Schulman, I.H., Raij, L., 2003. Postovariectomy Hypertension Is Linked to Increased Renal AT1 Receptor and Salt Sensitivity. Hypertension 42, 1157–1163. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000102180.13341.50
- Hoshi-Fukushima, R., Nakamoto, H., Imai, H., Kanno, Y., Ishida, Y., Yamanouchi, Y., Suzuki, H., 2008. Estrogen and angiotensin II interactions determine cardio-renal damage in Dahl salt-sensitive rats with heart failure. Am. J. Nephrol. 28, 413–423. https://doi.org/10.1159/000112806
- Ito, K., Hirooka, Y., Kimura, Y., Sagara, Y., Sunagawa, K., 2006. Ovariectomy augments hypertension through rho-kinase activation in the brain stem in female spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 48, 651–657. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000238125.21656.9e
- Junker, R., Heinrich, J., Schulte, H., Erren, M., Assmann, G., 1998. Hemostasis in normotensive and hypertensive men: results of the PROCAM study. The prospective cardiovascular Münster study. J. Hypertens. 16, 918–922. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004872-199816070-00004
- Knowlton, A.A., Lee, A.R., 2012. Estrogen and the cardiovascular system. Pharmacol. Ther. 135, 54–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.03.007
- Koupenova, M., Ravid, K., 2018. Biology of platelet purinergic receptors and implications for platelet heterogeneity. Front. Pharmacol. 9, 37. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHAR.2018.00037/BIBTEX
- Lacolley, P., Regnault, V., Nicoletti, A., Li, Z., Michel, J.B., 2012. The vascular smooth muscle cell in arterial pathology: a cell that can take on multiple roles. Cardiovasc. Res. 95, 194–204. https://doi.org/10.1093/CVR/CVS135
- Minami, T., Sugiyama, A., Wu, S.Q., Abid, R., Kodama, T., Aird, W.C., 2004. Thrombin and Phenotypic Modulation of the Endothelium. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 24, 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000099880.09014.7D/FORMAT/EPUB
- Miranda, K.M., Espey, M.G., Wink, D. a, 2001. A rapid, simple spectrophotometric method for simultaneous detection of nitrate and nitrite. Nitric Oxide 5, 62–71. https://doi.org/10.1006/niox.2000.0319
- Mogielnicki, A., Chabielska, E., Pawlak, R., Szemraj, J., Buczko, W., 2005. Angiotensin II enhances thrombosis development in renovascular hypertensive rats. Thromb. Haemost. 1069–1076. https://doi.org/10.1160/TH04-10-0701
- Naasani, L.I.S., Rodrigues, C., de Campos, R.P., Beckenkamp, L.R., Iser, I.C., Bertoni, A.P.S., Wink, M.R., 2017. Extracellular Nucleotide Hydrolysis in Dermal and Limbal Mesenchymal Stem Cells: A Source of Adenosine Production. J. Cell. Biochem. 118, 2430–2442. https://doi.org/10.1002/JCB.25909
- Otsuka, K., Ohno, Y., Sasaki, T., Yamakawa, H., Hayashida, T., Suzawa, T., Suzuki, H., Saruta, T., 1997. Ovariectomy aggravated sodium induced hypertension associated with altered platelet intracellular Ca2+ in Dahl rats. Am. J. Hypertens. 10, 1396–1403. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-7061(97)00312-9/2/AJH.1396.F3.JPEG

- Pawlinski, R., Pedersen, B., Erlich, J., Mackman, N., 2004. Role of tissue factor in haemostasis, thrombosis, angiogenesis and inflammation: lessons from low tissue factor mice. Thromb. Haemost. 444–450. https://doi.org/10.1160/TH04-05-0309
- Pendurthi, U.R., Williams, J.T., Rao, L.V.M., 1997. Inhibition of tissue factor gene activation in cultured endothelial cells by curcumin. Suppression of activation of transcription factors Egr-1, AP-1, and NF-kappa B. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 17, 3406–3413. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.17.12.3406
- Peng, N., Clark, J.T., Wei, C.C., Wyss, J.M., 2003. Estrogen depletion increases blood pressure and hypothalamic norepinephrine in middle-aged spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertens. (Dallas, Tex. 1979) 41, 1164–1167. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000065387.09043.2E

Riewald, M., Ruf, W., 2002. Orchestration of Coagulation Protease Signaling by Tissue Factor 12, 149-154.

- Sasaki, T., Ohno, Y., Otsuka, K., Suzawa, T., Suzuki, H., Saruta, T., 2000. Oestrogen attenuates the increases in blood pressure and platelet aggregation in ovariectomized and salt-loaded Dahl salt-sensitive rats. J. Hypertens. 18, 911– 917.
- Shah, B.H., 2005. Estrogen stimulation of COX-2-derived PGI2 confers atheroprotection. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 16, 199–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TEM.2005.05.008
- Wassmann, S., Bäumer, A.T., Strehlow, K., Van Eickels, M., Grohé, C., Ahlbory, K., Rösen, R., Böhm, M., Nickenig, G., 2001. Endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress during estrogen deficiency in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Circulation 103, 435–441. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.103.3.435
- Zhao, Z., Wang, H., Jessup, J.A., Lindsey, S.H., Chappell, M.C., Groban, L., 2014. Role of estrogen in diastolic dysfunction. Am. J. Physiol. - Hear. Circ. Physiol. 306. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00859.2013

9. Figure legends

Figure 1. Experimental model of menopausal hypertension. (A) Twenty female spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and 20 normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats arrived at our institution 60 days after birth. This date was considered as the day zero of our protocol. Before day zero, the animals received a standard diet. During the entire protocol after day zero, they received a phytoestrogen free diet. At day 40 (at approximately 14 weeks of age), the animals were submitted to a bilateral ovariectomy (OVX) or SHAM surgery (referred here as gonadal-intact animals). The experimental groups (n = 10/group) were WKY-SHAM, WKY-OVX, SHR-SHAM and SHR-OVX. Five days before either surgery (at day 35) or euthanasia (at day 85), blood pressure, body weight and estrous cycle phase were evaluated. At day 90 (50 days after surgery), all animals were euthanised for sample collection. **(B)** Rat body weight variation between animals post-OVX surgery (at day 85) and pre-OVX (at day 35). **(C)** Ratio between uterus weight and body weight was determined as an index of OVX surgery efficiency.

Figure 2. Platelet aggregation function in estrogen-depleted normo and hypertensive rats. A bilateral ovariectomy (OVX) or SHAM surgical procedure was performed in 14-week-old female spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. After 50 days, animals were euthanized and blood was collected for *ex-vivo* platelet aggregation functional tests. (A) ADP (10 μ M)-induced platelet aggregation in platelet rich plasma (PRP). (B) Representative profile of ADP-induced aggregation curves for normotensive WKY rats. (C) Representative profile of ADP-induced aggregation curves for SHR rats. (D) Collagen (3 μ g/mL)-induced platelet aggregation in PRP. (E) Representative profile of collagen-induced aggregation curves for SHR rats. Data are presented as mean \pm SE and (*) represents a statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 3. Nitrate/nitrite, nitric oxide synthase and cyclooxygenase 2 levels in normo and hypertensive ovariectomized rats. A bilateral ovariectomy (OVX) or SHAM surgical procedure was performed in 14-week-old female spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. After 50 days, animals were euthanized for plasma and aorta collection. (A) Plasma and (B) Aorta nitrite/nitrate (NO⁻_x) levels as determined by the Griess method. (C) Aorta protein expression levels of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) as determined by western-blot (upper panel showing the representative blots from three independent experiments and lower panel showing its respective quantitative analysis normalized by the β -actin expression). Data are presented as mean \pm SE and (*) represents statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 4. Hydrolysis of the main nucleotides involved in platelet aggregation in estrogen-depleted normo and hypertensive rats. A bilateral ovariectomy (OVX) or SHAM surgical procedure was performed in 14-week-old female spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. After 50 days, animals were euthanized and serum and platelets were collected to determine the enzymatic activity of ecto-nucleotidases involved in nucleotide metabolism that are relevant for platelet aggregation function. The activities of E-NTPDases (ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase), ecto-5'- nucleotidase and E-NPP (nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase) were estimated in serum and platelets by the hydrolysis rate of AMP (A and E), ADP (B and F), ATP (C and G) and 5'-TMP (D and H). Data are presented as mean ± SE and (*) represents statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 5. Blood coagulation parameters in estrogen-depleted normo and hypertensive rats. Citrated blood was collected through intracardiac puncture from ovariectomized (OVX) and SHAM-operated spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. The following coagulation parameters were determined in plasma: (A) activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT); (B) kinetics of WKY rats aPTT; (C) kinetics of SHR rats aPTT; (D) prothrombin time (PT); (E) thrombin time (TT) and (F) fibrinogen levels. Data are presented as mean \pm SE and (*) represents statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 6. Procoagulant phenotype of aortic rings derived from normo and hypertensive ovariectomized rats. The descending thoracic aorta was collected from ovariectomized (OVX) and SHAM-operated spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. Then, two mm ring segments were prepared to measure its potential increasing rate of kallikrein, factor Xa (FXa) and thrombin generation. (A) Kallikrein generation was determined by incubating the aortic rings with diluted prothrombin-deficient human plasma and adding the specific synthetic substrate S2302 to measured formed kallikrein. (B) FXa generation was determined by incubating the aortic rings with purified human FX, FVIIa and calcium ions and adding the specific synthetic substrate S2222 to measured formed FXa activity. (C) Thrombin generation was determined by incubating the aortic rings in the presence of purified human prothrombin. Data are presented as mean ± SE and (*) represents statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 7. Tissue factor (TF) protein expression in aorta and platelets from normo and hypertensive ovariectomized rats. Abdominal aorta and platelets were collected from ovariectomized (OVX) and SHAM-operated spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. Aorta (A) and platelet (B) extracts were prepared, and TF protein expression were analysed by western blot. The upper panel shows representative images from three independent analyses, while the lower panel presents the quantitative data normalized by the β -actin expression. Data are presented as mean ± SE and (*) represents statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 8. Prothrombotic and fibrinolytic molecular markers in aorta from estrogen-depleted normo and hypertensive rats. Abdominal aorta was collected from ovariectomized (OVX) and SHAM-operated spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. The tissue extracts were prepared and protein expression of prothrombotic markers – kallikrein (KLK1), factor X (FX), factor II (FII) and protease activated receptor – 1 (PAR-1) - (A and C) and fibrinolytic markers – plasminogen activator inhibitor – 1 (PAI-1) and urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) - (B and D) were determined by western blot. The left panel shows representative images from three independent analyses, while the right panel presents the quantitative data normalized by the β -actin expression. Data are presented as mean \pm SE and the symbols (* and #) represents statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 9. Plasma-derived from normo and hypertensive ovariectomized rats induced a procoagulant phenotype in vascular smooth muscle cells in culture. Plasma obtained from ovariectomized (OVX) and SHAM-operated spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats was used to treat a cell line (A7r5) of vascular smooth muscle cells derived from rat thoracic aorta. (A) A7r5 cells were treated with different concentrations of SHR or WKY-derived plasma for 1 h, then cells were washed, and coagulation time was determined through the aPTT assay by the addition of a rat plasma pool collected from healthy animals. (B) A7r5 cells were treated with diluted plasma (10 %) from SHR or WKY animals, at different time-points cells were washed and aPTT was determined as described above. (C) A7r5 cells treated with 10 % plasma from SHR or WKY animals were collected in each time-point, and tissue factor (TF) protein expression was determined by western blot. The panel shows representative images from three independent analyses. (D) Data from TF blots in each time-point were quantified and normalized by the β -actin expression. All data showed on graphs are mean \pm SE analysed by one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test. Coagulation data are presented as a ratio between coagulation time from ovariectomized versus SHAM-operated animals. The dotted line on graphs A and B indicates the normal coagulation pattern of A7r5 cells incubated with rat plasma pool collected from healthy animals. The symbols (*) and (#) in panels A and B indicate respectively the statistical difference of WKY and SHR versus the normal coagulation time from cells treated with plasma pool of healthy animals. The same symbols (* and #) in panel D indicate respectively the statistical difference between KY SHAM versus KY OVX and SHR SHAM versus SHR OVX groups.

Figure 10. The procoagulant phenotype induced by plasma derived from normo and hypertensive ovariectomized rats requires NF- κ B pathway. Vascular smooth muscle cells (A7r5) were pre-treated overnight with PBS or 0.1 μ M PDTC to block the NF- κ B pathway. Then, the cells were incubated for 2 h with 10 % plasma obtained from ovariectomized (OVX) and SHAM-operated spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and normotensive

Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats. After a washing step, coagulation time was determined through the aPTT assay by the addition of a rat plasma pool obtained from healthy animals (A). Similarly, in another set of experiments vascular cells were treated as above and collected for tissue factor (TF) protein expression analysis by western blot (B). The upper panel in B shows representative images from three independent experiments, while the lower panel presents the quantitative data normalized by the β -actin expression. All data are presented as mean \pm SE and symbols (* and #) represents statistically significant difference between indicated groups (one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's-post hoc test).

Figure 11. Overview of the prothrombotic mechanisms in an experimental model of menopausal hypertension. Bilateral ovariectomy leads to an increase in blood pressure. This event is associated with platelet hyperreactivity and increased tissue factor expression in platelets, aorta and vascular cells. The aorta and vascular cells of hypertensive ovariectomized animals have a greater capacity to generate procoagulant enzymes such as thrombin and factor Xa, which are formed on the cell surface by binding to tissue factor. Thrombin and factor Xa are the main activators of PAR-type receptors. These receptors regulate, through NF-kB, the expression of the tissue factor itself, which is found in endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and platelets. The entire process appears to be part of a positive feedback mechanism that maintain a prothrombotic baseline state. *Abbreviations:* TF - tissue factor; FVIIa - factor VIIa, FXa - factor Xa, THR - thrombin, PLT - platelets; EC - endothelial cell; VSMC - vascular smooth muscle cell; PAR - protease-activated receptor; NF-kB - nuclear factor kappa B.

10. Tables

Table 1. Cardiovascular parameters in WKY and SHR ovariectomized rats.

11. Supplementary material

Table S1. 17-β Estradiol levels in WKY and SHR ovariectomized rats.

Parameter	Groups	Pre- Baseline	Pre-OVX Baseline (Day 35)		Post-OVX Day 85	
HR (beats/min)	WKY-SHAM WKY-OVX	$\begin{array}{c} 331\pm15\\ 332\pm8.6\end{array}$	(a) (a)	346 ± 8.6 363 ± 7.8	(a) (ab)	1.000 1.000
	SHR-SHAM	376 ± 14	(a)	331 ± 8	(a)	0.001
	BIICOVA	338±7	(a)	383 ± 8	(0)	0.091
SBP (mmHg)	WKY-SHAM	129 ± 3	(a)	126 ± 0.8	(a)	1.000
	WKY-OVX	132 ± 4.7	(a)	169 ± 3	(b)	<0.001
	SHR-SHAM	152 ± 4	(b)	143 ± 2.8	(c)	0.259
	SHR-OVX	159 ± 3.5	(b)	176±2.5	(b)	<0.001
DBP (mmHg)	WKY-SHAM	82 ± 2.7	(a)	80±2.4	(a)	1.000
	WKY-OVX	81 ± 2	(a)	102 ± 1.7	(b)	<0.001
	SHR-SHAM	95 ± 3	(b)	90±3.2	(ac)	1.000
	SHR-OVX	100 ± 3.7	(b)	107 ± 3	(b)	0.737

Table 1. Cardiovascular parameters in WKY and SHR ovariectomized rats.

Spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) and Wistar Kyoto rats (WKY) were ovariectomized (OVX)- or SHAMoperated (n = 10/group). Cardiovascular parameters such as, heart rate (HR), systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) were measured before (at the baseline, pre-OVX) and after surgery (post-OVX). Details about the experimental design can be found in Fig. 1A. The results are presented as mean \pm SE. For data analysis the method of Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE) followed by Bonferroni's test was used. The pvalue column indicates statistical differences between time (pre-OVX versus post-OVX). The letters indicate statistical differences between experimental groups. Same letter means no difference (p>0.05), while different letters means that there is statistical difference between groups (p<0.05). In all cases, p<0.05 were considered statistically significant.





Click here to access/download Figure; $FIG_2tiT =$

Click here to access/download Figure $FIG_3tF =$





Click here to access/download Figure; $FIG_4tiT =$



Click here to access/download Figure $FIG_5tF \pm$





Figure 7



Click here to access/download Figure; FIG_8tif ±



Party Share SHRSHAR tho: the the out С A 1.5 Coagulation time (Ratio OVX/SHAM) 30 min 47 kDa 1.0 60 min 47 kDa TF 0.5 120 min 47 kDa KY 24 h 47 kDa 0.0 SHR -• 10 15 20 25 30 35 5 0 β-Actin 42 kDa Plasma (%) В D 1.5 KY SHAM KY OVX SHR SHAM 3 Coagulation time (Ratio OVX/SHAM) TF/β-actin Ratio (Arbitrary Units) SHR OVX ٠ 2. 1.0 1 0.5 0.2 0.0 KY SHR 0 5 15 25 0 0 2 3 25 1 2 3 1 4 5 4

Time (h)

Time (h)

Click here to access/download Figure; FIG_9t if \pm

Figure 10



Click here to access/download, Figure; Fig_11.png \pm



Credit Author Statement

Credit author statement

<u>SBP and PBT</u>: Methodology, Investigation, Validation, Formal Analysis, Writing-Original draft; <u>PZ, CPK and TNAG</u>: Methodology, Investigation; <u>EPP and LT</u>: Resources, Funding acquisition; <u>MB</u>: Conceptualization, Investigation, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Writing-Review & Editing.